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Chairman’s  Letter

Dear Fellow Shareholder

A very busy and demanding year has seen the successful completi on and operati on of Finders’ demonstrati on 
plant at the Wetar Copper Project. Producing 5 tonnes per day copper cathode, this plant has confi rmed the 
leachability of the ore in full scale heaps, and provides the foundati on for a staged expansion of this operati on 
to the full commercial scale of 23,000 tpa of copper cathode.

Experience gained during constructi on and operati on of the demonstrati on plant has been fully incorporated 
into the full scale project feasibility study. The feasibility study considers a staged, brownfi elds expansion, 
with initi al expansion of the demonstrati on plant to a nominal 5,000 tpa copper cathode, followed by a fi nal 
expansion to the full 23,000 tpa uti lizing the 18,000 tpa capacity Whim Creek SX-EW plant which is under 
opti on to purchase from Straits Resources Ltd. This development path derives maximum value from the 
extensive existi ng infrastructure, provides an ideal training environment for plant operators, and serves to 
reduce fi nancial risk during the development period. The availability of the Whim Creek plant will result in 
a signifi cant reducti on in capital cost and also lead ti mes for major project components compared to design 
and constructi on of a new plant.

During the year Finders has considerably strengthened our board and management team with the appointment 
of Rob Thomson and Mike Sti rzaker as executi ve directors for Development and Finance respecti vely, who 
bring track records of successful greenfi elds project development in Asia and wide experti se in project fi nance 
to the company.

While Finders’ immediate focus is on the fast track development of a signifi cant copper mining operati on 
at Wetar, the group has conti nued to progress, on a minimum cost basis, explorati on for additi onal copper 
and gold resources on Wetar Island, and its highly promising Ojolali gold-silver project in Sumatra. The board 
views these projects as forming the principal path to organic growth for the company in the medium term 
uti lizing the skills base and Indonesian operati ng experti se developed through the Wetar project.
  
The Company is working closely with the relevant Indonesian provincial and local governments to ensure 
a sustainable development path for the local community stakeholders in the project, and through our 
consultants to maintain best practi ce environmental protecti on standards.  As the fi rst mine site producer of 
copper cathode in Indonesia, the Wetar Copper Project is closely aligned with the intent of the new Indonesian 
mining legislati on. The recent re-electi on of President Yudhoyono to a second term provides a stable politi cal 
environment during the key development phase of our project. 

Your directors believe that the rapid bounce back of the copper price following lows reached at the peak of 
the global fi nancial crisis augers well for its future strength as the world economy recovers. The feasibility 
study indicates that the Wetar project will fall well below the average capital cost, and will be at around the 
midpoint of operati ng costs, for copper projects.  It will be very well placed to capitalise on any sustained 
recovery from the global fi nancial crisis, while the strong gold price underpins the value of our so far 
under-rated Ojolali gold-silver project.

The year’s progress has only been possible through the dedicated eff orts of our mainly Indonesian based staff  
and management team led by Chris Farmer, and strong support from our shareholders through a very testi ng 
period. On behalf of the board I would like to extend our thanks to both management and shareholders, and 
invite you to stay on board as Finders progresses to fully fl edged producer status.

Yours sincerely,

Russell Fountain
Chairman
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Operations Review

OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGY

Finders has made positi ve progress towards becoming a profi table company based on strong cash fl ow from 
the development of its advanced projects located in Indonesia.  Specifi c corporate objecti ves include:

 • Obtaining project fi nance and permitti  ng for the main Wetar Copper Project; 
 • Expansion of the brownfi elds Wetar Copper Project to 23,000 tonnes per annum copper   
  cathode producti on;
 • Expand resource base and initi ate feasibility studies at the Ojolali Gold-Silver Project; 
 • Exposure to further explorati on success at Wetar and Ojolali, and through a strategic holding  
  in Geopacifi c Resources NL; and
 • Identi fying new undervalued assets for low cost acquisiti on.

New senior management has been added to the company over the past fi nancial year, and the Board believes 
that these corporate objecti ves can now be achieved.  

The Board is fully committ ed to operati onal safety and the principles of sustainability in mining. 

  Locati on Map
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Operations Review

WETAR COPPER PROJECT (FND 94%* and earning with expenditure) 

*Based on expenditure as at 30 June 2009

Copper on Wetar is found at surface in two high grade deposits, Kali Kuning and Lerokis, which are located 
within 5km of the coast.  The area was formerly a gold mine operated by Billiton in the 1990’s and existi ng 
infrastructure including a camp, roads and a port facility have been progressively repaired by Finders.
Independent JORC esti mates by Hellman & Schofi eld are based on historical drilling by Billiton and recent 
drilling by Finders.  

Table 1.   Wetar copper resources

Copper minerals are found within a massive pyrite lens and comprise chalcocite, covellite, enargite, 
chalcopyrite and bornite.  Aft er assessment of several potenti al process routes, the Company selected heap 
leaching and solvent-extracti on/electrowinning as the preferred process opti on. Results from over two years 
of laboratory test work with copper recoveries in the range of 70-80%, provided the basis for the Company to 
approve the constructi on of a demonstrati on plant to: 

 • accurately determine copper recovery rates using full scale heaps; 
 • determine opti mum operati ng conditi ons;
 • assess the quality of copper cathode produced; and
 • de-risk the project for debt fi nance.

Results from the demonstrati on phase provide fundamental data for the defi niti ve Feasibility Study which is 
nearing completi on led by Ausenco.

Demonstrati on Plant at night

0.5% Cu cut off grade
Category Tonnes (M) Grade % Cu Contained Copper (KT)

Kali Kuning Measured 5.2 2.6 133
Indicated 0.9 2.5 22
Inferred 0.1 1.8 2
Sub Total 6.1 2.5 156

Lerokis Measured 2.1 2.4 51
Indicated 0.5 2.1 10
Inferred 0.1 1.4 2
Sub Total 2.7 2.3 62

Total 8.8 2.4 218
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WETAR DEMONSTRATION PLANT

As an integral part of the Feasibility Study, the Company’s acti viti es during the year focussed on the design, 
constructi on and operati on of a 5 tonne per day copper cathode demonstrati on plant.  The plant was 
commissioned in February 2009, behind schedule primarily due to delays in aspects of engineering design and 
procurement of key components.

       

Table 2.  Comparison of resource model with grade control results

Operations Review

Test Pit Tonnes Grade % Cu Contained
Copper

Southern Pit – Massive sulphide 2.3% +6.3% +3.8%

Northern Pit – Leached/Transition ore +25% +36% +70%

In additi on, the drilling located an additi onal 60kt 
of massive sulphide ore, grading 3.6% Cu from 
outside of the limits of the massive sulphide 
resource model. Crushing and stacking has been 
undertaken with our own equipment and this – 
plus further equipment – will also be used for the 
expansion project.  The crushing circuit has three 
stages and throughput has averaged ~85 tonnes 
per hour to produce a 13mm crushed product for 
stacking.  The heaps have been stacked between 
5-9m high.
 
Leach performance and copper recoveries are 
monitored within four test heaps.  A key outcome 
of the test phase is to confi rm opti mal operati ng 
conditi ons and therefore each heap has varying 
heights, ore grade, ore types and aerati on/
irrigati on confi gurati ons. To date, copper recovery 
rates are within the range of models generated 
using the laboratory test results. 
 

Copper cathode from demonstrati on plant

The demonstrati on stage replicates all stages 
planned for the commercial project.

Mining is open cut, serviced by contract trucks and 
excavators and 100,000 tonnes of representati ve 
Kali Kuning ore has been mined, the bulk of 
which was completed during the wet season 
with no signifi cant downti me. Our mining team 
have tested several blasti ng patt erns and have 
successfully reduced explosive usage compared to 
initi al esti mates. In additi on, blast holes were used 
for grade control with very positi ve results when 
compared to the current Resource esti mates. A 
direct comparison between identi cal volumes 
for the resource model and grade control drilling 
for the main southern test pit (primary massive 
sulphide) and a smaller pit in the leached ore is 
presented in Table 2 below.
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Operations Review

Figure 1.   Leach recovery curves 

As the demonstrati on heap sequence has progressed, 
changes have been made to the confi gurati on of the 
irrigati on and aerati on equipment with increasing 
recovery rates.  Heap 1 performance appears to be 
related to poor aerati on and this material is currently 
being re-stacked.  In comparison with the laboratory 
test results each of the test heaps are running at 
higher temperatures (to 85oC) and are all generati ng 
more acid than predicted.  A neutralisati on plant 
has recently been commissioned at site to stabilise 
the amount of free acid in soluti on and increase the 
eff ecti veness of the SX plant.

Both the solvent-extracti on and electrowinning 
plants are made of standard industry components 
designed for the soluti on fl ow rates from the test 
heap area.  All stainless steel components have been 
manufactured in Indonesia.  

To date, solvent extracti on effi  ciency has been 
maintained despite elevated acid levels by increasing 
the grade of copper in the leach soluti on. Average 
extracti on achieved has been 4.1t Cu per day. Batch 
dosing with hydrated lime has commenced to assist 
neutralise excess acid in the process circuit. Electrowinning cells

The electrowinning plant has performed within expectati ons with ~94% availability and average current 
effi  ciency of 89%.  Downti me was att ributable to generator faults and one instance of a faulty processor chip 
in the recti fi er. Producti on to the end of September 2009 totalled 864 tonnes of copper cathode.

The quality of the copper cathode product has been of LME Grade A standard with very low total impuriti es 
(average 10.7ppm against a 65ppm LME specifi cati on) - refer fi gure 2 overleaf. 



6 Finders Resources Limited

There is sti ll a considerable inventory of copper within the test heaps and this is suffi  cient to support 
producti on unti l approximately August 2010.  With the neutralisati on plant newly commissioned and new 
aerati on effi  ciencies being tested in Heap 4, the Company expects operati ng results in the forthcoming 
quarter to further de-risk the technical side of the Feasibility Study.

The demonstrati on plant has amply served its purpose in conti nuing to provide the company with both 
essenti al technical informati on and a useful source of revenue.

WETAR FEASIBILITY STUDY

The defi niti ve feasibility study (DFS) for the Wetar Copper Project is nearing completi on. The study draws 
heavily on the results of the demonstrati on plant to date and is focussed on a project implementati on and 
operati onal strategy designed to minimise risk.
       The key consultants appointed for the study are   
       internati onally recognised and comprise:

       • Ausenco: Project Manager and  
        engineering design;
       • Randy Scheff el and Graeme Miller:   
        metallurgy;
       • Arcadis: heap hydrodynamics;
       • AMDAD: mine schedule and reserves;
       • Hellman & Schofi eld: resource    
        esti mates; 
       • AECOM: environmental planning and   
        management; and
       • SRK Consultants: geotechnical and heap  
        leach pad design.

Core elements of the DFS have been ongoing throughout the year. The Company conducted due diligence on 
a number of available copper SX-EW plants and in June 2009, Finders signed an opti on agreement with Straits 
Resources Ltd to buy the Whim Creek SX-EW plant for A$5m.

The incorporati on of the operati onal Whim Creek SX-EW plant into the Wetar Copper Project development 
plan was a major milestone which adds robustness to the outlook for project fi nance by reducing the capital 
cost uncertainty and lead ti me uncertainty associated with building a new plant.  

Operations Review
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Figure 2.   Copper cathode assay data

Demonstrati on plant heap leach pad
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To maximize the benefi ts from existi ng assets on site plus the incorporati on of the Whim Creek plant, a three 
staged brownfi elds expansion strategy has been adopted in the DFS. 

Stage 1 comprises expansion of the current demonstrati on plant to up to 5,000 tpa copper cathode capacity 
and uti lizati on of the existi ng gold pit at Kali Kuning to create an additi onal heap leach pad, with the whole of 
Stage 1 contained within the environmental footprint of the previous gold mining operati on. 

Stage 2 comprises relocati on of the Whim Creek plant, which has a capacity of around 18,500tpa copper 
cathode in its current confi gurati on, and constructi on of a new leach pad in the adjoining valley.

Stage 3 comprises haulage of ore from the Lerokis deposit to the leach pads at Kali Kuning to maintain ~23,000 
tpa copper cathode producti on from both SX-EW plants.

Benefi ts from this strategy include:

 • Earlier increase in cash fl ow from demonstrati on plant expansion;
 • Less constructi on risk;
 • Increased mining and irrigati on fl exibility with two separate leach locati ons; and 
 • Signifi cant long term risk reducti on through the availability of two independent SX-EW   
  producti on faciliti es.

The DFS incorporates signifi cant learning from the demonstrati on phase, in parti cular leach kineti cs which 
dictate mine scheduling/stacking and subsequent availability of the opti mum volumes and grades of leach 
soluti on to run the SX-EW plants at full capacity.  

Several producti on simulati ons have been completed as part of the DFS with the conclusion that the planned 
23,000 tpa producti on rate can be maintained under the conditi ons of ore grade, mineral type and mining 
and crushing/stacking rates assumed in the DFS.

Design criteria in the DFS is consistent with the copper leaching characteristi cs of the demonstrati on ore 
heaps, aft er making appropriate allowances for the diff erent operati ng conditi ons between a demonstrati on 
plant and a full-scale project.

Excellent percolati on characteristi cs of the test heaps up to 9m high refl ect the clay free nature of the Wetar 
ore, and additi onal laboratory test work concluded that permeability will be maintained with multi ple lift s 
up to +40m high.

Operations Review

Full scale project site layout
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The demonstrati on plant leach pads have seen higher levels of acid generati on than those esti mated during 
the laboratory test work phase. This has led to extra test work being conducted in the DFS to determine 
the acid neutralisati on criteria required for the full-scale project.  Adequate limestone resources for the acid 
neutralisati on required for the full-scale operati on are available from within the immediate project area, which 
will substanti ally miti gate the additi onal costs of an acid neutralisati on circuit to the full scale development.

Pending fi nal publicati on of the DFS, the Company envisages that capital costs per tonne of annual producti on 
will be low compared to other projects and that operati ng costs will be close to the global average for all 
copper producers.

WETAR PROJECT IMPLEMENTATION

Timing for project implementati on is dependent on fi nal permitti  ng approvals, arranging fi nance and local 
weather conditi ons.

Now that the operati onal aspects within the DFS are fi xed, the fi nal stage of the environmental permitti  ng 
process is underway.  The Company envisages that the Government of Indonesia will issue the implementi ng 
rules associated with the new Mining Law early next year, and once these are in place an applicati on to 
convert from explorati on to exploitati on rights will be submitt ed.

Completi on of earthworks in the valley adjacent to Kali Kuning and transportati on of the Whim Creek plant are 
criti cal path items in being able to reach 23,000tpa copper cathode producti on in a ti mely manner.

Wetar Island and the NW Australian coastal areas are subject to high rainfall and high waves during the period 
December to April.  Marine transportati on of equipment to the locati on during this period will be restricted 
and high acti vity levels for constructi on are likely to commence aft er April, subject to successful permitti  ng.

Operations Review

On completi on of the DFS, there will be further work required 
to make the study fully bankable. In parti cular, Finders has 
identi fi ed the following areas which are able to further 
opti mise mine scheduling and associated capital costs:

• Additi onal geotechnical drilling on the eastern pit  
 wall at Kali Kuning to opti mise the materials balance  
 for waste dumps which provide the foundati ons for  
 the heap leach pads;
• Tender of earthworks contracts to Indonesian-based  
 contractors; and
• Final assessment of the demonstrati on plant’s Heap  
 4 performance.

Company owned MV Perseverence at Wetar wharf
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Operations Review

The Ojolali Project comprises 5,921 Ha of Explorati on KP concessions in Lampung Province in Sumatra. Finders 
holds a 71.7% interest in the project through its subsidiary, Way Kanan Resources, in partnership with Great 
Northern Resources (22.8%), and PT Batatua Way Kanan Minerals (5.5%). Finders has an opti on to purchase 
100% of the project on completi on of a Feasibility Study. Finders controls the enti re Ojolali mineral district 
which comprises over 20 named prospects located in gently rolling countryside within the Sumatran gold belt 
in Indonesia. The individual prospects comprise a complex of high level epithermal gold-silver vein systems 
currently known within an area approximately 8km north south and 4 km east west within the Finders 
controlled KPs.

OJOLALI GOLD - SILVER PROJECT (FND 72% and opti on for 100%) 

Figure 3.   Jambi cross-secti on

Finders acquired the project in 2005 and has since carried out an extensive explorati on programme with the 
two-fold aim of establishing an initi al mining resource at the Jambi oxide gold prospect, and also defi ning 
the potenti al of the remaining area for additi onal discoveries. Expenditure to date is approximately US$4.5 
million. Finders explorati on has included surface mapping, detailed ground geophysics, including  pole dipole 
induced polarizati on (IP) and ground magneti cs (25 sq km), composite soil sampling (35 sq km), and an ongoing 
programme of follow up surface trenching and channel sampling of target areas, including  extensive sampling 
of local miner workings.
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OJOLALI RESOURCES

Based on diamond and reverse circulati on drilling by Finders, Hellman & Schofi eld Pty Ltd has independently 
esti mated resources of approximately 140,000 oz gold at the Jambi oxide gold deposit, as detailed in Table 
3 below.  The Jambi resource remains open to the north, west, south-west, north-east and at depth. With a 
hill-top locati on and favourable metallurgy, Jambi has potenti al for mining as a low strip rati o open cut.

An additi onal Inferred Resource of 7.9m tonnes at 167 g/t Ag and 0.7 g/t Au (using a 1 g/t Au equivalent 
cut-off ) containing approximately 40 million ounces of silver and 170,000 oz of Au, based on drilling by other 
companies, has been previously announced for part of the 2.5km long Tambang vein system.  Finders’ current 
explorati on strategy is to increase the oxide gold resource to +300,000 oz Au, to provide the basis for a low 
cost 30-50,000 oz gold per year open pit mine based on the Jambi oxide resource, and to use the cash fl ow 
from this plant to fund explorati on for additi onal resources and progressive expansion of the project.

Operations Review

Cut off Indicated Inferred Total Contained Attrib. FND

Au g/t Mt Au g/t Ag g/t Mt Au g/t Ag g/t Mt Au g/t Ag g/t Au koz (72%) Au koz

0.5 2.98 1.1 8.3 1.1 0.9 5.7 4.08 1.05 7.6 138 99

1.0 1.13 1.74 8.5 0.3 1.6 6.7 1.43 1.71 8.1 79 57

POTENTIAL FOR ADDITIONAL DISCOVERY

With widespread local miner acti vity for gold and strong gold in soil geochemical anomalies over an area 
so far 8km north south and up to 5km wide (Figure 3).  Finders considers that there is strong potenti al for 
additi onal discoveries, including a number of target types:

 • Bulk low grade disseminated gold (Jambi, Jambi North, Jambi West and Belida prospects);
 • Bonanza grade gold-silver vein targets (Way Neki, C1, Kencur, Batu Kuning and Suban  
  prospects);
 • High grade Ag in supergene enriched zones (Tambang supergene and Jambi supergene   
  zone); and
 • Major vein systems in feeder structures at depth (Tambang, Talangharno).

Ojolali local employees

Table 3.   Jambi resource esti mate
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CURRENT EXPLORATION

In late 2008 and early 2009, Finders’ explorati on acti viti es at Ojolali were restricted to geological mapping 
and low cost, hand dug trenching to bett er defi ne and rank targets identi fi ed by previous soil geochemical 
and geophysical surveys by Finders. This work is sti ll being processed, and subject to progressive receipt of 
assay results from extensive channel sampling of the trenches, preliminary assessments indicate a range of 
priority drilling targets with high potenti al for discovery of signifi cant, near surface gold-silver mineralizati on 
in a range of styles, with current priority targets comprising:

 • To the north and west of the current Jambi resource, wide zones of strong clay-
  sericite- hemati te alterati on, with low intensity quartz veining have locally pannable gold   
  and indicate potenti al for signifi cant additi onal bulk low grade resources (Figure 4);
 • Excellent potenti al for bonanza gold grades is indicated by the presence of visible gold in   
  quartz veins up to 30cm wide, exposed in local miner pits in complex, multi ple vein systems  
  at both Way Neki and C1 areas; and
 • High silver values up to 450 g/t Ag, with associated gold from channel sampling of local   
  miner pits for manganese, over a strike length in excess of 1km along the surface trace 
  of the Tambang, and nearby Chandra vein systems, compared to surface soil values of   
  <10ppm.

Reverse circulati on drilling at Ojolali

Current plans are for initi al drill testi ng of these targets in the 4th quarter of 2009. This will be followed up 
by resource defi niti on drilling where warranted, with the aim of completi ng a feasibility study into initi al gold 
producti on at Jambi by the end of 2010.

High grade quartz vein High grade limonite cemented breccia, Jambi
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Figure 4.  Ojolali Project- Explorati on Targets

Competent Persons Att ributi on

The informati on in this report that relates to mineral resource esti mati on is based on work completed by Dr Philip Hellman (Wetar) and 
Mr Jonathon Abbott  (Ojolali) who are full ti me employees of Hellman & Schofi eld Pty Ltd and members of the Australasian Insti tute 
of Mining and Metallurgy.  Both Dr Hellman and Mr Abbott  have suffi  cient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisati on 
and type of deposit under considerati on and to the acti vity which they are undertaking to qualify as Competent Persons as defi ned 
in the 2004 Editi on of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporti ng of Explorati on Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’ (JORC Code) 
and as Qualifi ed Persons as defi ned in the AIM Rules. Dr Hellman and Mr Abbott  consent to the inclusion in the report of the matt ers 
based on their informati on in the form and context in which they appear.  Geological informati on in this report and comments 
relati ng to explorati on potenti al and the project in general is based on informati on compiled by Dr Russell Fountain, who also accepts 
responsibility for the data on which the resource is based.  Dr Fountain is a Director of Finders and a Fellow of the Australasian Insti tute 
of Geoscienti sts. Dr Fountain has suffi  cient experience that is relevant to the styles of mineralisati on and types of deposits under 
considerati on and to the acti vity that he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defi ned in the JORC Code. He consents to 
the inclusion in this report of the matt ers based on his informati on in the form and context in which it appears. All assaying of drill core 
samples was undertaken by the ITS laboratory in Jakarta. ITS is one of the world’s largest product and commodity testi ng, inspecti on 
and certi fi cati on organizati ons. The Jakarta laboratory is ISO 17025 accredited and employs a Laboratory Informati on Management 
System (LIMS) for sample tracking, quality control and reporti ng. 

Disclaimer

Statements in this document that are forward-looking and involve numerous risks and uncertainti es that could cause actual results 
to diff er materially from expected results are based on the Company’s current beliefs and assumpti ons regarding a large number of 
factors aff ecti ng its business. Actual results may diff er materially from expected results. There can be no assurance that (i) the Company 
has correctly measured or identi fi ed all of the factors aff ecti ng its business or the extent of their likely impact, (ii) the publicly available 
informati on with respect to these factors on which the Company’s analysis is based is complete or accurate, (iii) the Company’s analysis 
is correct or (iv) the Company’s strategy, which is based in part on this analysis, will be successful.
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FINANCE

The group commenced copper cathode sales in March 2009.  To 30 June 2009, the group generated $3.1 
million in revenue from the sale of 489 tonnes of copper cathode.  The copper sold averaged US$4,550/T 
(US$2.06/lb) which compared favourably to the London Metals Exchange average cash sett lement price of 
US$4,434/T (US$2.01/lb) for the period.

The company recorded a net loss aft er tax of $11.6 million for the fi nancial year.  The result refl ects the 
current stage of the group’s development and includes the write-off  of $4.6 million in costs leading up to 
producti on from the Wetar demonstrati on project and $1.3 million in fi nancing costs.

CASH FLOW AND FUNDING

The revenue generated from copper sales during the year made a modest contributi on to the group’s funding 
requirements during the year. 

In additi on to operati ng cash requirements, the group also made payments totaling $15.9 million during the 
year for investments in plant and equipment, mine development and explorati on costs largely associated with 
the Wetar demonstrati on project and the associated feasibility study.  Funding was provided by a converti ble 
note facility, equity raisings during the year, drawdown of the balance of a loan facility and the forward sale 
and purchase of copper cathode.  The total funds raised, net of costs and loan repayment, were $15.8 million.

Subsequent to balance date, the company raised $20 million from a share placement and $1.2 million from a 
share purchase plan in August and September 2009.  These additi onal funds were used to reti re borrowings 
and for working capital, which more specifi cally, may include:

 • completi on of the defi niti ve feasibility study for the Wetar Copper Project;
 • any additi onal work required to make the defi niti ve feasibility study fully bankable,   
  including the costs associated with obtaining fi nal permitti  ng;
 • payment of deposits on long lead items required for the Wetar Copper Project;
 • costs of arranging fi nance for the Wetar Copper Project;
 • refurbishment and relocati on of the Whim Creek SX-EW plant, which the Company   
  currently has an opti on to purchase;
 • further explorati on at Wetar and Ojolali; and
 • part of the cost of expanding the demonstrati on plant.

INTEREST BEARING DEBT

Following the completi on of the $20 million share placement referred to above, the company repaid a US$5.0 
million loan and accrued interest which was due for repayment on 31 December 2009.  The company has also 
repaid the deferred sett lement liability on the purchase of an ocean-going transportati on vessel used at the 
Wetar Copper Project.

At 30 September 2009, the group’s remaining interest-bearing debt comprised a US$1.5 million converti ble 
note which, if not converted into shares, will be repayable on 19 January 2012 and US$0.2 million owing 
pursuant to the forward sale and purchase of copper cathode which is expected to be repaid in the next 
month.
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   Dr Russell J Fountain,  Non-Executi ve Chairman
   (Appointed 30 March 2004) 
   BSc (University of Sydney), PhD (University of Sydney), FAIG.

   Dr Fountain has over 40 years of successful internati onal experience in all aspects  
   of mineral explorati on, project feasibility and development of mining projects.
   
   Interest in Shares and Opti ons:  7,444,671 Ordinary Shares.
   Special Responsibiliti es:  Nil
   Other Listed Company Directorships in last 3 years:
   Geopacifi c Resources NL (since 9 May 2006). 
    
   Dr Christopher B Farmer, Managing Director
   (Appointed 30 March 2004)
   BSc (Hons) (University of Southampton), MBA (Ashridge), PhD (Royal School of   
   Mines, Imperial College).

   Dr Farmer has over 18 years of internati onal experience in all aspects of    
   explorati on, with a strong emphasis on business development.
   
   Interest in Shares and Opti ons:  5,965,695 Ordinary Shares.
   Special Responsibiliti es:  Nil
   Other Listed Company Directorships in last 3 years:  Nil 
    
   Mr Michael H Sti rzaker, Finance Director
   (Appointed 3 June 2009)
   BCom (University of Cape Town), CA (Australia).

   Mr Sti rzaker is a Chartered Accountant with more than 25 years of commercial   
   experience, most of which has been in the mining fi nance and mining investment  
   sectors, including mergers and acquisiti ons and capital raisings.
   
   Interest in Shares and Opti ons:   4,017,858 Ordinary Shares.
       1,000,000 opti ons expiring 14 September 2014   
       (exercise price - $0.37).
   Special Responsibiliti es:  Nil
   Other Listed Company Directorships in last 3 years:  Nil 
    
   Mr Robert P Thomson, Executi ve Director, Development
   (Appointed 6 January 2009)
   BE (Mining) (University of Queensland), MBA (University of Wollongong), FAusIMM.

   Mr Thomson has over 30 years of Australian and internati onal mining experience.   
   He has worked on 5 Asian development projects in the last 13 years including GM  
   Development, Chatree Gold Mine in Thailand and Project Director, Sepon   
   Gold Mine in Laos.  Mr Thomson was CEO of Climax Mining Limited from 2003 to  
   2006 and Asian Mineral Resources Limited from 2006 to 2008.
   
   Interest in Shares and Opti ons:   528,496 Ordinary Shares.
       2,000,000 opti ons expiring 8 May 2014 
       (exercise price - $0.30).
   Special Responsibiliti es:  Nil
   Other Listed Company Directorships in last 3 years:
   Asian Mineral Resources Limited (TSX.V) (16 April 2004 – May 2009) 

Directors and Executive Management
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   Mr Stephen de Belle, Independent Non-Executi ve Director
   (Appointed 27 November 2004)
   BA (Macquarie University), MSc (London University), MTCP (University of Sydney).
   
   Mr de Belle has been closely involved with the start-up and operati on of iron ore,  
   coal, base metals, gold and petroleum projects and companies, and has parti cular 
   experti se in the development and fi nancing of projects in the resources and   
   infrastructure sectors both in Australia and overseas. 
   
   Interest in Shares and Opti ons:  4,418,800 Ordinary Shares.
   Special Responsibiliti es:  Chairman of Audit, Remunerati on and Nominati on   
   Committ ees.
   Other Listed Company Directorships in last 3 years:
   Mantle Mining Corporati on Limited (since 3 July 2006)
   Midwest Corporati on Limited (10 April 2003–10 September 2008).
 
   Mr Stephen J Lonergan,  Independent Non-Executi ve Director
   (Appointed 22 March 2005)
   LLB (Australian Nati onal University), LLM (McGill University).

   Mr Lonergan is a commercial lawyer based in Sydney with more than 25 years   
   experience in the Australian and internati onal mining industry, having been General  
   Counsel of Panconti nental Mining Group, a partner at Baker &  McKenzie Sydney, 
   and General Counsel and Company Secretary of Savage Resources Limited.  Mr   
   Lonergan is currently General Counsel and Company Secretary of CBH Resources  
   Limited.
   
   Interest in Shares and Opti ons:  70,733 Ordinary Shares.
   Special Responsibiliti es:  Member of Audit, Remunerati on and Nominati on   
   Committ ees.
   Other Listed Company Directorships in last 3 years:
   Paradigm Metals Limited (since 18 November 2003)
   CBH Resources Limited, Alternate Director (19 March 2008-11 July  2008).
 
   Mr T Quinn Roussel,  Non-Executi ve Director
   (Appointed 25 March 2009)
   BSc (Mining Engineering) (Colorado School of Mines), MBA (University of South   
   Carolina and Wirtschaft s Universitat-Wien)
 
   Mr Roussel is a Principal of Resource Capital Funds (“RCF”), a mining-focussed   
   private equity fi rm.  Prior to joining RCF in 2006, he was Director of Business   
   Development at one of RCF’s portf olio companies in China.  He has also worked as  
   an engineer in both mining and the oil & gas industries.
   
   Interest in Shares and Opti ons:  Nil
   Special Responsibiliti es:  Nil
   Other Listed Company Directorships in last 3 years:  Nil
 
   Mr Ian H Morgan, Company Secretary
   (Appointed 27 November 2004)
   BBus (NSW Insti tute of Technology), CA, ACIS, MAICD, FFin 

   Mr Morgan is a Chartered Accountant and Chartered Company Secretary, with over  
   25 years experience.  He provides secretarial and advisory services to a range of   
   companies, and is company secretary of other publicly listed companies. 
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Mr Grant Harding, Operati ons Manager
BSc (Mineral Science), MAusIMM

   Mr Harding is a qualifi ed extracti ve metallurgist with over 25 years experience in  
       the mining industry.  He has extensive operati onal, engineering and project 
   management experience in Australia and internati onally in Indonesia, Myanmar,   
   Ghana, Tanzania and the Phillippines.

Mr Chin Haw Lim, Chief Financial Offi  cer
BCom, CA

   Mr Lim qualifi ed as a Chartered Accountant in 1984 and has been involved in   
   the mining industry since that ti me.  His mining and Indonesian experience 
   included 8 years with Straits Resources Limited which operated the Girilambone   
   copper mine (heap leach SX-EW) in New South Wales and the Sebuku coal mine in 
   Indonesia and 5 years with Triako Resources Limited.  He was also the company   
   secretary of those companies.

Mr Geoff rey Hiller, Project Manager, Development
BSc (Mining Engineering), MBA

   Mr Hiller has over 20 years of commercial experience, fi rst in engineering   
   consulti ng and then in investment banking.  In the latt er role he specialised   
   in the mining fi nance and mining investment sectors, including funds management,  
   mergers and acquisiti ons and capital raisings. 

Wetar crusher



17Annual Report 2009

Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors supports good corporate governance principles and practi ces.  Notwithstanding its 
small size, the company aims to comply with the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendati ons 2nd 
Editi on (“ASX Principles”) set by the ASX Corporate Governance Council (“Council”) to the extent appropriate 
and practi cal.  However where compliance is inappropriate or impracti cal, these departures from the ASX 
Principles are explained in this statement.

The Directors adopted the following charters and policies in October 2009 and copies are available on the 
company’s website together with the company’s Consti tuti on.

Audit Committ ee Charter
Board Charter
Code of Conduct
Conti nuous Disclosure Policy
Nominati on Committ ee Charter
Remunerati on Committ ee Charter
Risk Management Policy
Securiti es Dealing Policy
Shareholder Communicati on Policy

ASX Principle 1:  Lay solid foundati ons for management and oversight. Council states that a company should 
“Establish and disclose the respecti ve roles and responsibiliti es of board and management”.

The Board Charter defi nes the operati on of the Board of Directors, its role, compositi on and responsibiliti es 
and the separati on of the role of the Board from that of the management.  

The Board is responsible for -

 a) setti  ng the company’s values and standards of conduct;
 b) providing leadership of the company within a framework of prudent and eff ecti ve controls  
  which enable risk to be assessed and managed;
 c) setti  ng the company’s directi on, strategies  and fi nancial objecti ves;
 d) approving business plans and annual budgets;
 e) approving half-year and annual fi nancial reports;
 f) ensuring that the performance of management, and the Board itself, is regularly assessed  
  and monitored;
 g) monitoring compliance with regulatory and ethical standards; and 
 h) appointi ng, terminati ng and reviewing the performance of the Managing Director and   
  Executi ve Directors.

The Board has delegated authority for the operati ons and administrati on of the company to the management 
team, led by the Managing Director.

The roles of the Chairman and the Managing Director are separate.

The Chairman is responsible for -
 a) leading the Board in its duti es to the company;
 b) ensuring there are processes and procedures in place to evaluate the performance of the  
  Board, its committ ees and individual directors;
 c) facilitati ng eff ecti ve discussions at Board meeti ngs; 
 d) ensuring eff ecti ve communicati on with shareholders; and
 e) developing an eff ecti ve working relati onship with the Managing Director and Executi ve   
  Directors.

The Managing Director is responsible for -
 a) policy directi on of the operati ons of the company;
 b) the effi  cient and eff ecti ve operati on of the company;
 c) ensuring directors are provided with accurate and clear informati on in a ti mely manner to  
  promote eff ecti ve decision-making by the Board;
 d) ensuring all material matt ers aff ecti ng the company are brought to the Board’s att enti on;  
  and
 e) maintaining regular communicati on with the Chairman on operati onal and strategic   
  matt ers.

An informal performance evaluati on of senior executi ves, other than Executi ve Directors, was conducted 
by the Managing Director during the year.  A formal process of evaluati ng the performance of all senior 
executi ves is to be implemented.
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ASX Principle 2:  Structure the board to add value.  Council states that a company should “Have a board of an 
eff ecti ve compositi on, size and commitment to adequately discharge its responsibiliti es and duti es”.

The Board consists of 7 directors.  A descripti on of skills and experience of each Board member and their 
period of offi  ce are contained in the Directors’ Report.

 

Messrs Fountain, Farmer, Sti rzaker and Thomson are not independent (see defi niti on below) as they have 
been or are employed in an executi ve capacity.  Mr Roussel, being a Principal of Resource Capital Funds 
(which is a substanti al shareholder in the company), is considered to be not an independent director. 

The majority of the Board comprise of non-independent directors.  Notwithstanding, the Company believes 
that the present compositi on of the Board is appropriate for the following reasons –

 a) provides a balance of skills and experti se that are required and that are appropriate at this  
  stage of the company’s development;
 b) each of the non-independent directors, other than Mr Roussel, has a signifi cant personal  
  stake in the Company and the Board believes that, on balance, this serves to align their   
  interests with those of shareholders and other stakeholders.

The Chairman, Dr Fountain, was the Executi ve Chairman unti l 25 March 2009 and is not considered to be 
independent.  Having regard to the compositi on of the Board, the directors have taken the view that it is in 
the best interest of the company that Dr Fountain serve as chairman of the Board.

Independence
An independent director is a non-executi ve director (ie is not a member of management) and -

 a) is not a substanti al shareholder of the company or an offi  cer of, or otherwise associated   
  directly with, a substanti al shareholder of the company;
 b) within the last three years has not been employed in an executi ve capacity by the company  
  or its subsidiaries, or been a director aft er ceasing to hold any such employment;
 c) is not a principal or employee of a professional adviser to the company or its subsidiaries  
  whose billings exceed fi ve per cent of the adviser’s total revenue;
 d) is not a signifi cant supplier or customer of the company or its subsidiaries, or an offi  cer of
   or otherwise associated directly or indirectly with a signifi cant supplier or customer.  A   
  signifi cant supplier is defi ned as one whose revenues from the company exceed fi ve per   
  cent of the supplier’s total revenue.  A signifi cant customer is one whose amounts payable  
  to the company exceed fi ve per cent of the customer’s total operati ng costs;
 e) has no material contractual relati onship with the company or its subsidiaries other than as  
  a director of the company;
 f) has not served on the board for a period which could, or could reasonably be perceived to,  
  materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the company;
 g) is free from any interest and any business or other relati onship which could, or could   
  reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best  
  interests of the Company.
 

Independent Directors
Non Executive Directors Mr Stephen de Belle

Mr Stephen Lonergan
Non Independent Directors
Non Executive Chairman Dr Russell Fountain
Executive Directors Dr Christopher Farmer

Mr Michael Stirzaker
Mr Robert Thomson

Managing Director
Finance Director
Executive Director, Development

Non Executive Director Mr Quinn Roussel

Corporate Governance
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Term
The Board has not adopted a tenure policy.  In accordance with the Consti tuti on of the company, no director 
shall hold offi  ce for a conti nuous period in excess of three years or past the third annual general meeti ng 
following the director’s appointment, whichever is the longer, without submitti  ng for re-electi on.

Independent Advice
The Board, or individual directors, may obtain independent professional advice if it (or the director) considers 
necessary, with the costs to be borne by the Company.

Nominati on Committ ee
The members of the Committ ee are –

Mr Stephen de Belle (Chairman)
Mr Stephen Lonergan

Under the Nominati on Committ ee Charter adopted since the end of the fi nancial year, candidates for Board 
positi ons are nominated by the Nominati on Committ ee for considerati on by the Board.  In selecti ng new 
members for the Board, directors have regard to the appropriate skills and characteristi cs needed by the 
Board as a whole.  The directors endeavour to appoint individuals who would provide the mix of director 
characteristi cs and diverse experiences, perspecti ves and skills appropriate for the company, at least one of 
whom will have appropriate technical and commercial skills relevant to the mining industry.

The Nominati on Committ ee did not meet during the fi nancial year.  All director appointments were dealt with 
in directors meeti ngs by the Board as a whole.

Board Performance Evaluati on
Performance evaluati ons of the Board and individual directors were not formally undertaken during the year.  
A formal evaluati on process is to be implemented.

ASX Principle 3:  Promote ethical and responsible decision-making.  Council states that a company should 
“Acti vely promote ethical and responsible decision-making”.

Code Of Conduct
The company conducts its business within the guidelines set out in the Code of Conduct.  Under the Code all 
directors and employees are required to -

 a) comply with the law;
 b) act honestly and with integrity;
 c) not place themselves in situati ons which result in a confl ict of interest;
 d) use the company’s assets responsibly and in the best interests of the company;
 e) be responsible and accountable for their acti ons.

Adherence to the Code is a term of employment with the company.

Employees are encouraged to report any violati ons of this Code of Conduct to the Managing Director or to the 
Chairman where a concern or confl ict issue involves a director.

Securiti es Dealing Policy
The Securiti es Dealing Policy is to create awareness of the legal prohibiti on on dealing in securiti es of the 
company and deals with the manner in which directors, employees and contractors can deal in securiti es in 
the company.  The policy rules are designed to assist in preventi ng breaches of the insider trading provisions 
of the Corporati ons Act.  The policy also aims to ensure that the company’s reputati on and those of its 
employees and directors is not adversely impacted by percepti ons of dealing at inappropriate ti mes.

The policy also imposes additi onal dealing restricti ons on all directors, offi  cers, senior executi ves and managers 
(referred to as “Designated Persons”).  Designated Persons are permitt ed to deal in the company’s securiti es 
throughout the year except during the following periods:

 a) the period commencing 14 days  prior to the fi nancial year-end and ending 24 hours aft er  
  the release of the company’s annual results; 
 b) the period commencing 14 days prior to the half year-end and ending 24 hours aft er the   
  release of the company’s half-year results; and

Corporate Governance
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 c) any other period where they are in possession of informati on and, were they to deal in   
  the company’s securiti es, would cause a breach of the insider trading provisions of   
  the Corporati ons Act, such period ending 24 hours aft er the release of the informati on to  
  the stock exchanges on which the company’s securiti es are quoted.

At all ti mes, a Designated Person is prohibited from dealing in the company’s securiti es without fi rst giving 
prior noti fi cati on of the proposed dealing to −

 a) if the Designated Person is a Director, giving prior noti fi cati on of the proposed dealing to  
  the Chairman;
 b) if the Designated Person is a person other than a Director, giving prior noti fi cati on of the   
  proposed dealing to the Managing Director or in his absence, an Executi ve Director.

Where the proposed dealing is approved, the Designated Person must complete the dealing within 10 
business days of the approval.

A Designated Person is also prohibited from engaging in frequent and regular trading acti vity involving the 
company’s securiti es or derivati ves with a view to deriving profi t related income from that acti vity.  

Directors are required to provide details of all changes to their interest in the company’s securiti es registered 
in the name of the director or held on behalf of the director, directly or indirectly.  The details must be 
provided as soon as reasonably possible aft er the date of the change and in any event no later than three 
business days aft er the change to allow for compliance with the listi ng rule obligati ons.
 
ASX Principle 4:  Safeguard integrity in fi nancial reporti ng.  Council states that a company should “Have a 
structure to independently verify and safeguard the integrity of their fi nancial reporti ng”.

The company has accounti ng policies, systems and procedures for ensuring that its fi nancial reports present a 
true and fair view of its fi nancial positi on in all material respects.  The policies, systems and procedures cover 
areas of signifi cance to the fi nancial statements such as revenue recogniti on, accounti ng for non-current 
assets, payroll, control of cash and other assets, recording of liabiliti es and authority levels.

The Managing Director and Chief Financial Offi  cer provide the Board with a writt en sign-off  that the fi nancial 
records of the Company for the fi nancial year have been properly maintained, consolidated fi nancial 
statements for each half-year and annual reporti ng period are in accordance with accounti ng standards and 
present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the group’s fi nancial positi on and operati ng results.

Audit Committ ee
The Committ ee’s role and responsibiliti es, powers and membership requirements are set out in an Audit 
Committ ee Charter. The Committ ee provides assistance to the Board in fulfi lling its corporate governance 
and oversight responsibiliti es in relati on to the company’s fi nancial reporti ng, internal control structure, 
risk management systems and external audit functi ons.  In discharging its oversight role, the Committ ee is 
empowered to investi gate any matt er brought to its att enti on with full access to all books, records, faciliti es, 
and personnel of the company and the authority to engage independent counsel and other advisers as it 
determines necessary at the company’s cost.

The members of the Committ ee are two independent non-executi ve directors -

Mr Stephen de Belle (Chairman)
Mr Stephen Lonergan

Details of the qualifi cati ons of each Committ ee member, the number of Committ ee meeti ngs held and the 
att endance of each Committ ee member are set out in the Directors’ Report.  

Appointment and Rotati on of External Auditor
If a change in external auditor is proposed, responsibility for recommending the external auditor (to be 
proposed for shareholder approval) and for evaluati ng the external auditor shall lie with the Audit Committ ee.  
The Committ ee aims to recommend an external auditor who demonstrates independence and integrity and 
who has the capacity to support the group’s business operati ons in Australia and Indonesia.

The audit partner responsible for the audit shall be rotated at least every fi ve years.  At least two years must 
elapse before the audit partner can again be involved in the audit of the company.
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ASX Principle 5:  Make ti mely and balanced disclosure.  Council states that a company should “Promote 
ti mely and balanced disclosure of all material matt ers concerning the company”.

The Conti nuous Disclosure Policy sets out how directors and employees shall deal with potenti ally price-
sensiti ve informati on to ensure that the company complies with its conti nuous disclosure obligati ons which 
require the company to immediately noti fy the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) and the London Stock 
Exchange’s AIM market (AIM) of any such informati on.

The Managing Director and Executi ve Directors constantly monitor all company acti viti es with a view to 
determining the possible need for disclosure of price-sensiti ve informati on.

Directors and the management team noti fy the Managing Director or the Company Secretary immediately if 
they become aware of any informati on that should be considered for release to the market.

Disclosures concerning fi nancial informati on are reviewed and approved by the Chairman of the Audit 
Committ ee prior to their release to ASX and AIM.

Price-sensiti ve informati on is released to ASX and AIM.  Price-sensiti ve informati on is not disclosed to analysts 
or others outside the company unti l aft er the ASX and/or AIM confi rm that the announcement has been 
released.  The informati on is posted on the company’s website immediately aft er the ASX and/or AIM confi rm 
that the announcement has been released, with the aim of making the informati on accessible to the widest 
audience.

The company has a policy of not responding to market rumours and speculati on unless it is required to do so 
by ASX or AIM.

Where the company is not able to make an immediate announcement of market sensiti ve informati on, it may 
choose to apply for a trading halt of its securiti es on ASX.  A trading halt can only be sought by the Managing 
Director in consultati on with the Chairman.

ASX Principle 6:  Respect the rights of shareholders.  Council states that a company should “Respect the 
rights of shareholders and facilitate the eff ecti ve exercise of those rights”.

The aim of the Shareholder Communicati on Policy is to provide shareholders with informati on about their 
company to enable them to exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner .

Shareholders and other interested parti es are invited to register to receive email alerts of announcements 
posted on the company’s website.

Shareholders are encouraged to att end all meeti ngs, or if unable to att end, to vote on the moti ons proposed 
by appointi ng a proxy.  

The company’s auditor att ends each Annual General Meeti ng and is available to answer questi ons about the 
conduct of the audit and the preparati on and contents of the auditor’s report.

ASX Principle 7:  Recognise and manage risk.  Council states that a company should “Establish a sound system 
of risk oversight and management and internal control”.

The company faces material business risks arising from its profi le as an explorati on company in transiti on to 
a mining company and includes operati onal and fi nancial risks and others such as reputati on and regulatory 
risks.  

Risk management strategies adopted shall include –

 a) health, safety and environment policies;
 b) internal control policies and procedures;
 c) fi nancial authority limits;
 d) business plans and budgets;
 e) monthly reporti ng against budgets;
 f) insurance programme; and
 g) hedging strategies, where appropriate.
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The above strategies are implemented in conjuncti on with other policies adopted by the company, including 
the code of conduct, conti nuous disclosure policy and securiti es dealing policy to provide a comprehensive 
risk management policy.

The Board monitors and reviews areas of signifi cant business risks regularly through –

 a) monthly fi nancial reports, including reports on the operati ons;
 b) att endance at Board meeti ngs held at least six ti mes a year;
 c) tour of operati ons and major explorati on sites;
 d) presentati ons by the Managing Director, Executi ve Directors and senior management at   
  Board meeti ngs;
 e) informal briefi ngs by the Managing Director and Executi ve Directors; and
 f) reports by the Chairman of the Audit Committ ee and circulati on of minutes of Audit   
  Committ ee meeti ngs to the Board.

As a small company in transiti on from a mineral explorer to a developer of a mining operati on, the company’s 
risk management systems are sti ll being developed within the constraints of its fi nancial and human resource 
levels.  In this context, the Board did not receive from management a report as to the eff ecti veness of the 
company’s management of its material business risk, but a comprehensive review of these risks is scheduled 
to be undertaken as part of the development of the mining operati on.

The Managing Director and Chief Financial Offi  cer have provided the Board with a writt en statement pursuant 
to secti on 295A the Corporati ons Act 2001 that the fi nancial records of the company for the fi nancial year 
have been properly maintained in accordance with Secti on 286 of the Corporati ons Act 2001, the fi nancial 
statements and notes thereto comply with the accounti ng standards and give a true and fair view.

ASX Principle 8:  Remunerate fairly and responsibly.  Council states that a company should “Ensure that the 
level and compositi on of remunerati on is suffi  cient and reasonable and that its relati onship to performance 
is clear”.

Remunerati on Committ ee
The members of the Committ ee are two independent non-executi ve directors -

Mr Stephen de Belle (Chairman)
Mr Stephen Lonergan 

The Committ ee’s role and responsibiliti es, powers and membership requirements are set out in a Remunerati on 
Committ ee Charter .

The Committ ee advises the Board on remunerati on policies and practi ces generally to assist the Board in 
the discharge of its responsibiliti es for human resources and remunerati on matt ers.  The objecti ve of the 
Committ ee is to ensure that –

 a) the company’s remunerati on policy is designed to align senior executi ves’ interests with   
  those of shareholders;
 b) remunerati on level is commensurate with a person’s duti es and responsibiliti es and that   
  remunerati on is competi ti ve in att racti ng, retaining and moti vati ng employees of the 
  highest calibre.

The Remunerati on Committ ee did not meet during the year.  All remunerati on matt ers were dealt with in 
directors meeti ngs by the Board as a whole.

Full details of the company’s remunerati on policy and the structure and level of remunerati on paid during the 
year ended 30 June 2009 are set out in the Remunerati on Report secti on of the Directors’ Report.  

There are no schemes for reti rement benefi ts other than statutory superannuati on for both executi ves and 
non-executi ve directors.

The company does not permit the hedging of unvested incenti ve opti ons issued to executi ve directors, eligible 
employees and consultants.  The company’s policy in this matt er is contained in its Security Dealing Policy, a 
copy of which can be found on the company’s website.
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Directors’ Report

Your directors present their report on the Company and its controlled enti ti es (“consolidated enti ty” or 
“Group”) for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2009.

Directors

The directors in offi  ce during the fi nancial year and up to the date of this report are:

Dr Russell J Fountain
Dr Christopher B Farmer
Mr Michael H Sti rzaker
Mr Robert P Thomson
Mr Stephen de Belle
Mr Stephen J Lonergan
Mr T Quinn Roussel

Details of the qualifi cati ons, experience, interest in shares and opti ons, special responsibiliti es and other listed 
company directorships of the above are set out on pages 14 and 15.

The following reti red as an alternate director during the year:

Mr Ian D Neuss   Alternate Director for Dr R Fountain
(Reti red 25 March 2009)
Qualifi cati ons   BSc (Hons) (University of New England), Dip. Ed(University of New England),  
    MSc (University of Birmingham), FAIG, FAICD.
Experience  Mr Neuss has over 36 years mining experience and has held various   
  positi ons where he was responsible for commercial operati ons and   
  explorati on, building overseas mining interests and minerals portf olios   
  leading to successful joint ventures, fi nancial investments and mines. 
Interest in Shares and Opti ons:   5,381,202 Ordinary Shares (25 March 2009)
Special Responsibiliti es:    Member of the Audit Committ ee.
Other Listed Company
Directorships in last 3 years:    Nil

Company Secretary

The company secretary is Mr Ian Morgan. Details of his qualifi cati ons and experience are set out on page 15.

Principal Acti viti es

The principal acti viti es of the consolidated enti ty during the fi nancial year were –

 a) Development of the Wetar Copper Project;
 b) Explorati on for copper and gold in Indonesia; and
 c) Investment in resource-based companies.

There was no signifi cant change in the nature of those acti viti es during the fi nancial year.

Operati ng Results

The consolidated loss aft er income tax for the fi nancial year was $11,652,000 (2008: $6,675,000).

The company generated revenue of $3.1 million from copper sales for the fi rst ti me.  However the result for 
the year was adversely aff ected by signifi cant expenses, including the write-off  of pre-producti on expenses 
($4.6 million) and fi nancing costs ($1.3 million).

Review of Operati ons and Business Strategies

Wetar Copper Project – Indonesia
The Group reached a signifi cant milestone during the year with the commissioning of the Wetar Demonstrati on 
Plant in February 2009.  The demonstrati on plant is a solvent-extracti on/ electro-winning plant with a capacity 
to produce 5 tonnes per day of copper cathode.  To 30 June 2009, the plant had produced 533 tonnes of LME 
Grade A quality copper cathode.
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Likely Developments and Expected Results

Other than as referred to in this report, further informati on as to likely developments in the operati ons of 
the consolidated enti ty and the likely results of those operati ons would, in the opinion of the directors, be 
speculati ve and/or prejudicial to the interests of the consolidated enti ty.

Signifi cant Events aft er Balance Date

Capital Raisings
As noted above, the Company undertook the following capital raisings subsequent to balance date:

 a) A share placement at $0.33 per share to raise $20 million, of which $5.5 million was
   completed in August 2009 (Tranche 1) and the balance (Tranche 2) to be completed   
  following shareholders’ approval at an extraordinary general meeti ng held on 14 September  
  2009; and
 b) A share purchase plan under which each eligible shareholder is enti tled to subscribe for up  
  to $10,000 in shares in the Company at an issue price of $0.33 per share.
 
Loan Repayment
At 30 June 2009, the Company had a secured borrowing of $6.3 million repayable on 31 December 2009.  The 
loan was parti ally repaid in August 2009 from the proceeds of Tranche 1 of the share placement referred to 
above and the balance will be repaid in September 2009 upon completi on of Tranche 2 of the share placement.
 
At 30 June 2009, the consolidated enti ty also had a deferred sett lement liability of $314,000 in connecti on 
with the purchase of an ocean-going transportati on vessel used at the Wetar Project.  The liability was repaid 
in August 2009.

The demonstrati on plant is part of the ongoing defi niti ve feasibility study for the Wetar Copper Project.  The 
Group’s primary focus during the year had been on the feasibility study, which is nearing completi on. 

Ojolali Gold-Silver Project – Indonesia
Minimal explorati on work was carried out at the Ojolali project as the priority during the year was the completi on 
of the Wetar feasibility study.  The directors conti nue to hold the view that, with further explorati on, the 
project has the potenti al to be developed into a gold mine.  Given the Group’s stronger cash positi on following 
the equity raising aft er balance date, new explorati on programmes are being developed to further advance 
this project.

Financial Positi on
Funding for the Group’s acti viti es during the year was drawn from loan funds and equity raisings, supplemented 
by cashfl ow from copper sales.  At 30 June 2009, the Group had total borrowings of $9.6 million, of which $7.8 
million is due within 12 months.  As referred to in Note 13 to the fi nancial statements, the bulk of the current 
borrowings have been or will be repaid from the proceeds of a share placement aft er balance date.  The $20 
million share placement aft er balance date has signifi cantly strengthened the Group’s fi nancial positi on.

Outlook
Constructi on and development of the full-scale Wetar Copper Project, targeted to produce 23,000 tonnes of 
copper cathode per annum is conditi onal on the Group securing fi nal permitti  ng and arranging the necessary 
funding. 

Signifi cant Changes in State of Aff airs

The following signifi cant changes in the state of aff airs of the consolidated enti ty occurred during the fi nancial 
year:

 a) The Wetar Demonstrati on Plant, with a producti on capacity of 5 tonnes per day of copper  
  cathode, was commissioned in February 2009;
 b) On 30 June 2009, the consolidated enti ty increased its interest in the Wetar Copper Project  
  from 72.54% to 93.97%; and
 c) In October 2008, the Company raised $5.2 million through a placement of 8.6 million 
  shares at $0.60 per share and in March/May 2009 raised a further $5.5 million through a  
  placement of 28 million shares at $0.20 per share.
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Meeti ngs of Directors and Board Committ ees

Att endances by each director during the year were as follows:

The Remunerati on and Nominati on Committ ee did not meet during the year.  All remunerati on matt ers and 
directors appointments were dealt with in directors meeti ngs.

Indemnifying Directors and Other Offi  cers

During the year, the Company paid a premium and other charges for a Directors and Offi  cers Liability insurance 
policy for the benefi t of the directors, secretary, offi  cers and employees of the Company.  The policy prohibits 
disclosure of the terms of the policy, including the amount insured, the insuring clauses and exclusions and 
the amount of premium paid.

Other than the above, the directors are not aware of any matt er or circumstance, which has arisen since the 
end of the fi nancial year that has signifi cantly aff ected or may signifi cantly aff ect:
 
 a) the operati ons of the consolidated enti ty; 
 b) the result of those operati ons; or 
 c) the state of aff airs of the consolidated enti ty; 

in subsequent fi nancial years.

Dividends Paid or Recommended

There was no dividend paid, recommended or declared but not paid, during the fi nancial year. 

Environmental Issues

The consolidated enti ty adopts “best practi ce” environmental management techniques from the wider mining 
community, parti cularly Australian standards of operati on, in managing environmental issues at all its project 
areas.

In each of the project areas, the consolidated enti ty has engaged reputable independent consultants to 
undertake extensive environmental studies.  The results of these studies are communicated to the appropriate 
local Indonesian authoriti es.

The consolidated enti ty is not aware of any endangered species of fl ora or fauna in these project areas.  
Projects are subject to relevant environmental regulati on and will themselves have varying levels and types of 
potenti al impact on the natural environment. 

Explorati on work is intended to be carried out to cause minimum impact on the environment.  The consolidated 
enti ty is required to comply with Indonesian laws and regulati ons regarding environmental matt ers, including 
disturbance and rehabilitati on issues and the discharge of hazardous waste and materials.  

Directors Meetings Audit Committee Meetings

Number eligible to
attend

Number attended Number eligible to
attend

Number attended

Russell Fountain 19 19

Christopher Farmer 19 18

Michael Stirzaker 1 1

Robert Thomson 10 10

Stephen de Belle 19 14 3 3

Stephen Lonergan 19 17 3 3

T Quinn Roussel 5 5

Ian Neuss * 3 1

* Alternate for Dr Russell Fountain (retired 25 March 2009)
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The opti ons over unissued ordinary shares outstanding at the date of this report are detailed in Note 16 to 
the fi nancial statements.  The opti on holders do not have any right by virtue of the opti ons to parti cipate in 
any share issue of any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous fi nancial year 298,533 ordinary shares have been issued at $0.50 per share by 
virtue of the exercise of opti ons.

Non-audit Services

The Company may engage the services of its auditors on other assignments in additi on to the statutory audit 
where the fi rm’s experti se and experience with the Company are benefi cial.

During the fi nancial year, the Company engaged the auditors for tax consulti ng services, for which the 
Company paid $15,071 in fees to the parent enti ty auditor and a subsidiary not audited by the parent enti ty 
auditor paid $8,114 to its auditor.

The Board of Directors has considered the level and nature of the non-audit services provided by the auditor 
during the year and, in accordance with advice received from the Audit Committ ee, is sati sfi ed that the 
provision of the non-audit services during the year is compati ble with the general standard of independence 
for auditors imposed by the Corporati ons Act 2001.  The directors are sati sfi ed that the nature and scope of 
the non-audit services provided by the auditors did not compromise the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporati ons Act 2001.

Full details of the auditors’ remunerati on are set out in Note 24 to the fi nancial statements.

Auditor’s Independence Declarati on

The auditor’s independence declarati on pursuant to secti on 307C of the Corporati ons Act 2001 is set out on 
page 33.

Rounding of Amounts to Nearest Thousand Dollars

The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 issued by the Australian 
Securiti es & Investments Commission and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the Directors’ 
Report and the Financial Report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Opti ons

The following opti ons over unissued ordinary shares were granted during or since the end of the fi nancial 
year -

 (a) Company associated with Mr Robert Thomson, a director.
 (b) Company associated with Mr Grant Harding, a key management person.
 (c) Company associated with Mr Geoff rey Hiller, a key management person.
 (d) Company associated with Mr Michael Sti rzaker, a director.

Name Grant date Expiry date Exercise price Number

Chin Haw Lim 16 Apr 2009 16 Apr 2012 $0.30 500,000

Chin Haw Lim 16 Apr 2009 16 Apr 2014 $0.30 500,000

Monterey Consolidated
Services Pty Ltd (a)

8 May 2009 8 May 2014 $0.30 2,000,000

Paul Heather 24 Jun 2009 23 Jun 2014 $0.37 250,000

Highfield Metallurgical
Services Limited (b)

29 Jun 2009 28 Jun 2014 $0.37 125,000

Highfield Metallurgical
Services Limited

29 Jun 2009 28 Jun 2014 $0.37 500,000

Highshaw Pty Ltd (c) 29 Jun 2009 29 Jun 2014 $0.37 500,000

Daniel Edgar Tarrant 31 Aug 2009 29 Aug 2014 $0.37 250,000

Stith Pty Ltd (d) 14 Sep 2009 14 Sep 2014 $0.37 1,000,000

Total 5,625,000
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Performance-based remunerati on
Short-term incenti ves
The Performance Bonus Plan was developed and agreed by the Remunerati on and Nominati on Committ ee 
with the aim of providing alignment between executi ves and shareholders’ interests in respect of the fi nancial 
performance of the Company.  The payment of bonuses and other incenti ve payments are reviewed by the 
Remunerati on and Nominati on Committ ee annually as part of the review of executi ve remunerati on and a 
recommendati on is put to the Board for approval.  The Board can exercise its discreti on in relati on to approving 
bonuses and can recommend changes to the Remunerati on and Nominati on Committ ee’s recommendati ons.  
Any changes must be justi fi ed by reference to measurable performance criteria.

Long-term incenti ves
The Company has an established Employee Share Opti on Plan.  The Plan is designed to provide long-term 
incenti ves to employees of the Group.  Under the Plan, the number of opti ons issued and outstanding at any 
ti me is limited to 5% of the total number of issued shares of the Company from ti me to ti me.  The Plan is 
administered by the Board who have power to determine the terms and conditi ons of the opti ons issued to 
eligible employees.  Parti cipati on in the Plan is at the discreti on of the Board.

REMUNERATION REPORT

This report details the nature and amount of remunerati on for key management personnel and executi ves 
receiving the highest remunerati on.

Remunerati on policy

The remunerati on policy is designed to align key management personnel objecti ves with shareholder and 
business objecti ves by providing a fi xed remunerati on component and off ering specifi c long-term incenti ves 
based on key performance indicators aff ecti ng the Group’s operati onal and fi nancial results.  The policy 
ensures that the remunerati on level is commensurate with the person’s duti es and responsibiliti es and that 
remunerati on is competi ti ve in att racti ng, retaining and moti vati ng employees of the highest calibre, as well 
as creati ng goal congruence between directors, executi ves, shareholders and all other stakeholders. 

The remunerati on policy, which sets the terms and conditi ons for senior executi ves, was developed by the 
Remunerati on and Nominati on Committ ee, aft er seeking professional advice from independent consultants, 
and was approved by the Board.

All key management personnel receive a base salary, superannuati on and may benefi t from the Company’s 
Performance Bonus Plan.  The Board (including non-executi ves) are remunerated by means of a fi xed annual 
salary and superannuati on, having regard to comparable companies from ti me to ti me.

The employment conditi ons of the managing director and specifi ed executi ves are formalised in contracts of 
employment.

Board policy is to remunerate non-executi ve directors at market rates for ti me, commitment and 
responsibiliti es.  The Remunerati on and Nominati on Committ ee determines payments to the non-executi ve 
directors and reviews their remunerati on annually, based on market practi ce, duti es and accountability.  
Independent external advice is sought when required.

The Company’s Consti tuti on requires that the remunerati on payable from ti me to ti me to non-executi ve 
directors shall be an amount not exceeding in aggregate a maximum sum that is from ti me to ti me approved 
by resoluti on of the Company, currently $350,000 per annum.  In accordance with the Consti tuti on, the Board 
has set the directors fees as follows –

Non-executi ve Chairman $50,000 per annum
Non-executi ve Directors  $36,000 per annum

The Company also makes statutory superannuati on contributi ons, currently 9% of directors fees, for the 
benefi t of the directors.

Fees for non-executi ve directors are not linked to the performance of the Group.  However, to align directors’ 
interests with those of shareholders, the directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company.  

There are no schemes for reti rement benefi ts other than statutory superannuati on for both executi ves and 
non-executi ve directors.
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Company performance and directors and executi ve remunerati on

At this stage of the Company’s development, performance-based bonuses and incenti ve awards are made 
at the discreti on of the Board.  The Company has not yet developed a structured performance-linked 
remunerati on policy.

Details of remunerati on

The key management personnel of the consolidated enti ty during the year were –

Directors
Russell Fountain, Non-Executi ve Chairman
Christopher Farmer, Managing Director
Michael Sti rzaker, Finance Director (appointed 3 June 2009)
Robert Thomson, Executi ve Director, Development (appointed 6 January 2009)
Stephen de Belle, Independent Non-executi ve Director
Stephen Lonergan, Independent Non-executi ve Director
T Quinn Roussel, Non-executi ve Director (appointed 25 March 2009)
Ian Neuss, Alternate Director (reti red 25 March 2009)
Gerry Mbatemooy, Director of PT Batutua Tembaga Raya, a subsidiary of Finders Resources Limited

Other key management personnel
Chin Haw Lim, Chief Financial Offi  cer (appointed 10 November 2008)
Geoff rey Hiller, Project Manager, Development (appointed 25 June 2009)
Grant Harding, Operati ons Manager

Consolidated
Entity

Short Term
Benefits

Post
Employment

2009 Salary & fees Cash bonus Superannuation Share based
payments
(Options)

Total Proportion of
performance

based
remuneration

$ $ $ $ $ %

Directors

Russell Fountain 46,008 71,940 117,948

Christopher Farmer 250,000 18,507 268,507

Michael Stirzaker

Robert Thomson 169,754 16,533 186,287 9%

Stephen de Belle 36,000 3,240 39,240

Stephen Lonergan 39,240 39,240

T Quinn Roussel 9,000 9,000

Ian Neuss

Gerry Mbatemooy 295,631 295,631

Other key management
lChin Haw Lim 79,230 32,182 11,333 122,745 9%

Geoffrey Hiller

Grant Harding 195,338 195,338

Total 1,080,961 165,109 27,866 1,273,936
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Consolidated Entity
& Parent Entity

Short Term Benefits Post Employment

2008 Salary & fees Cash bonus Superannuation Share based
payments

Total Proportion of
performance based

remuneration

$ $ $ $ $ %

Directors

Russell Fountain 92,014 50,000 78,480 220,494 23%

Christopher Farmer 245,443 50,000 24,149 319,592 16%

Stephen de Belle 36,000 3,240 39,240

Stephen Lonergan 39,240 39,240

Ian Neuss 105,600 105,600

Other key management personnel

Dominic Barrington 81,161 81,161

Grant Harding 150,000 150,000

Total 710,218 100,000 145,109 955,327

Directors’ Report

Mr Dominic Barrington ceased to be part of key management personnel on 30 June 2008.

Performance-based remunerati on as a proporti on of total remunerati on

Executi ve directors are paid performance-based bonuses based on set monetary fi gures, rather than 
proporti ons of their salary.  This has led to the proporti ons of remunerati on related to performance varying 
between individuals.  The Remunerati on and Nominati on Committ ee had set these bonuses to encourage 
achievement of specifi c targets that have been given a high level of importance to the future growth of the 
consolidated enti ty.

Parent Entity Short Term Benefits Post Employment

2009 Salary & fees Cash
bonus

Superannuation Share based
payments
(Options)

Total

$ $ $ $ $

Directors

Russell Fountain 46,008 71,940 117,948

Christopher Farmer 78,416 18,507 96,923

Michael Stirzaker

Robert Thomson 32,500 16,533 49,033

Stephen de Belle 36,000 3,240 39,240

Stephen Lonergan 39,240 39,240

T Quinn Roussel 9,000 9,000

Ian Neuss

Gerry Mbatemooy 161,384 161,384

Other key management personnel

Chin Haw Lim 79,230 32,182 11,333 122,745

Geoffrey Hiller

Grant Harding 13,092 13,092

Total 455,630 165,109 27,866 648,605
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Share-based payments

The following opti ons were issued to key management personnel or their nominees during the fi nancial year 
(2008: Nil).

Vesti ng dates

 i) Upon securing fi nance for the full scale Wetar Copper Project.
 ii) 750,000 opti ons upon completi on of Wetar Copper Project defi niti ve feasibility study and  
  1,250,000 on commencement of commercial producti on from the full scale Wetar Copper  
  Project.
 iii) Upon producti on from the full scale Wetar Copper Project reaching 75% of nameplate   
  design capacity.
 iv) 125,000 opti ons on grant date and 500,000 opti ons upon producti on from the full scale   
  Wetar Copper Project reaching 75% of nameplate design capacity.
 v) 180 days aft er drawdown of a project fi nance facility for the development of the full scale  
  Wetar Copper Project.

Directors’ Report

Name Grant date Number Vesting date/

condition

Expiry date Exercise
price

Value per
option at

grant date

Chin Haw Lim 16 Apr 2009 500,000 10 May 2009 16 Apr 2012 $0.30 $0.19

Chin Haw Lim 16 Apr 2009 500,000 Note (i) 16 Apr 2014 $0.30 $0.22

Robert Thomson 8 May 2009 2,000,000 Note (ii) 8 May 2014 $0.30 $0.25

Paul Heather 24 Jun 2009 250,000 Note (iii) 23 Jun 2014 $0.37 $0.21

Grant Harding 29 Jun 2009 125,000 Vested 28 Jun 2014 $0.37 $0.22

Grant Harding 29 Jun 2009 500,000 Note (iv) 28 Jun 2014 $0.37 $0.22

Geoffrey Hiller 29 Jun 2009 500,000 Note (v) 29 Jun 2014 $0.37 $0.22

Total 4,375,000
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Service agreements

The remunerati on and other terms of engagement of Executi ve Directors and other key management personnel are 
formalised in employment and consulti ng agreements.  Key provisions of each of the agreements are set out below.  
All contracts may be terminated early by the Company giving between 1 and 3 months noti ce, subject to terminati on 
payments as detailed below.

Signed in accordance with a resoluti on of the Board of Directors.

Russell Fountain
Chairman

Sydney
15 September 2009

gned in accordance with a resoluti 

ssell Fountain

Name Term of agreement Base fee/salary Termination payment
Russell Fountain
Executive Chairman (until
25 Mar 2009)
Non Executive Chairman
(from 26 Mar 2009)

22 Mar 2006 – 25 Mar 2009 $110,000 per annum 50% of the fee applicable to
the remaining term of the
agreement or 12 months fee,
whichever is greater

Christopher Farmer
Managing Director

4 years commencing 22
Mar 2006

$250,000 per annum 50% of the fee applicable to
the remaining term of the
agreement or 24 months fee,
whichever is greater

Michael Stirzaker
Finance Director

2 Jun 2009 until the first
drawdown of debt under a
facility to fund the
development of the Wetar
Copper Project

$180,000 per annum No termination payment

Robert Thomson
Executive Director,
Development

2 years commencing 21 Sep
2008. Company has option
to renew the agreement
for two further terms of 3
years each

$1,000 per day 6 months fee plus 1 month
fee for each year of service
after a qualifying period of 6
months

Chin Haw Lim
Chief Financial Officer

2 years commencing 10
Nov 2008. Company has
option to renew the
agreement for two further
terms of 3 years each

$160,000 per annum 6 months salary plus 1 month
salary for each year of service
after a qualifying period of 6
months

Geoffrey Hiller
Project Manager,
Development

25 Jun 2009 until the first
drawdown of debt under a
facility to fund the
development of the Wetar
Copper Project

$180,000 per annum No termination payment

Grant Harding
Operations Manager

2 years commencing 3 Aug
2007. Company has option
to renew the agreement
for two further terms of 3
years each

$200,000 per annum 50% of the fee applicable to
the remaining term of the
agreement or 12 months fee,
whichever is greater

Directors’ Report
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28 to 32
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Directors’ Declaration

In the opinion of the directors:

 1. the fi nancial statements and notes set out on pages 37 to 64 are in accordance with the   
  Corporati ons Act 2001 and:
  a. comply with Accounti ng Standards and the Corporati ons Regulati ons 2001; and
  b. give a true and fair view of the Company’s and consolidated enti ty’s fi nancial   
   positi on as at 30 June 2009 and of their performance for the year ended on that 
   date;
 2. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as  
  and when they become due and payable; and
 3. the directors have received the declarati ons by the Chief Executi ve Offi  cer and Chief   
  Financial Offi  cer pursuant to secti on 295A of the Corporati ons Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resoluti on of the Board of Directors.

Russell Fountain
Chairman

Sydney
15 September 2009

Signed in accordance with a resol
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Income Statement for the year ended 30 June 2009

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements

Note Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Sales revenue 3,082

Interest income 56 332 56 332

Other income 7

Raw materials and consumables used (5,077)

Change in inventories of finished goods and
work in progress

7 1,262

Personnel costs (1,998) (1,510) (1,039) (783)

Pre production costs written off (4,616)

Provision for impairment 5 (600)

Financing costs (1,289) (1,144)

Depreciation and amortisation (589) (56) (7) (5)

Exchange gain/ (loss) (296) (1,871) (279) 45

Exploration expenditure written off (255) (1,903) (1)

Royalty expense (115)

Other expenses (1,224) (1,667) (877) (1,090)

Loss before income tax (11,652) (6,675) (3,290) (1,502)

Income tax expense 3

Loss for the year (11,652) (6,675) (3,290) (1,502)

Loss attributable to minority interest 2,263 1,414

Loss attributable to members

of the parent entity (9,389) (5,261) (3,290) (1,502)

cents cents

Basic loss per share 10.8 7.5

Diluted loss per share 10.8 7.0
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Note Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 4 1,706 4,988 374 4,681

Receivables 5 148 425 741 209

Financial assets 6 129

Inventories 7 1,702

Other assets 8 117 629 12

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 3,673 6,171 1,115 4,902

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables 5 1,556 6,365 18,685

Financial assets 6 528 378 33,950 5,444

Plant and equipment 9 8,987 3,901 15 19

Development expenditure 10 4,117 3,195

Exploration expenditure 11 4,897 1,961

Other assets 8 808

TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS 20,085 10,243 40,330 24,148

TOTAL ASSETS 23,758 16,414 41,445 29,050

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 12 3,358 2,198 747 308

Borrowings 13 7,814 6,268

Provisions 14 7 7

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 11,179 2,198 7,022 308

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Borrowings 13 1,747 4,217 1,747 4,217

Provisions 14 1,240

TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,987 4,217 1,747 4,217

TOTAL LIABILITIES 14,166 6,415 8,769 4,525

NET ASSETS 9,592 9,999 32,676 24,525

EQUITY

Issued capital 15 39,722 28,025 39,722 28,025

Reserves 17 1,440 1,892 (232) 24

Accumulated Losses (31,570) (19,918) (6,814) (3,524)

TOTAL EQUITY 9,592 9,999 32,676 24,525

Parent equity interest 9,592 9,999 32,676 24,525

Minority interest

TOTAL EQUITY 9,592 9,999 32,676 24,525

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2009

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2009

Consolidated Entity Share
Capital

Accumulated
Losses

Equity
Reserve

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

Share based
Payments

Reserve

Financial
Asset

Reserve

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2008 28,025 (19,918) 1,868 24 9,999

Shares issued during the year 11,854 11,854

Share issue expenses (157) (157)

Value of convertible note conversion
right

159 159

Loss attributable to members of
parent entity

(9,389) (9,389)

Loss attributable to minority interest (2,263) (2,263)

Adjustments from translation of
foreign controlled entities

(196) (196)

Acquisition of additional investment
in controlled entity

(325) (325)

Changes in fair value of available
for sale financial asset

(118) (118)

Share based payment 28 28

Balance at 30 June 2009 39,722 (31,570) (166) 1,672 28 (94) 9,592

Balance at 1 July 2007 18,061 (13,243) 700 1,971 7,489

Changes in fair value of available
for sale financial asset

(1,947) (1,947)

Shares issued during the year 10,206 10,206

Share Issue Expenses (242) (242)

Loss attributable to members of
parent entity

(5,261) (5,261)

Loss attributable to minority interest (1,414) (1,414)

Adjustments from translation of
foreign controlled entities

1,168 1,168

Balance at 30 June 2008 28,025 (19,918) 1,868 24 9,999

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements
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The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2009

Parent Entity Share Capital Accumulated
Losses

Equity Reserve Share based
Payments

Reserve

Financial Asset
Reserve

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2008 28,025 (3,524) 24 24,525

Shares issued during the year 11,854 11,854

Share issue expenses (157) (157)

Value of convertible note
conversion right

159 159

Loss attributable to members of
parent entity

(3,290) (3,290)

Acquisition of additional
investments in controlled entity

(325) (325)

Changes in fair value of available
for sale financial asset

(118) (118)

Share based payments 28 28

Balance at 30 June 2009 39,722 (6,814) (166) 28 (94) 32,676

Balance at 1 July 2007 18,061 (2,022) 1,971 18,010

Changes in fair value of available
for sale financial asset

(1,947) (1,947)

Shares issued during the year 10,206 10,206

Share issue expenses (242) (242)

Loss attributable to members of
parent entity

(1,502) (1,502)

Balance at 30 June 2008 28,025 (3,524) 24 24,525
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Note Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 3,014

Payments to suppliers and employees (6,171) (4,912) (1,815) (1,799)

Interest received 56 332 56 332

Net cash used in operating activities 26 (3,101) (4,580) (1,759) (1,468)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for property, plant and equipment (4,358) (3,861) (3) (15)

Payments for exploration expenditure (3,389)

Payments for development expenditure (7,873) (5,156) (409)

Payments for investments in and loans to
controlled entities

(325) (16,611) (12,787)

Payments for security deposit (17)

Net cash used in investing activities (15,945) (9,017) (17,040) (12,802)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares 10,908 10,132 10,908 10,132

Share issue expenses (189) (242) (189) (242)

Proceeds from borrowings 6,072 4,217 4,637 4,217

Repayment of borrowings (955) (864)

Net cash provided by financing activities 15,836 14,107 14,492 14,107

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held (3,210) 510 (4,307) (163)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
financial year

4,988 5,158 4,681 4,810

Exchange rate effect (72) (680) 34

Cash and cash equivalents at

end of financial year

4 1,706 4,988 374 4,681

Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 30 June 2009

The accompanying notes form part of these fi nancial statements



42 Finders Resources Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

NOTE 1: Basis of Preparati on of Financial Report

Finders Resources Limited is a public company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia whose shares are traded on the Australian 
Securiti es Exchange (ASX) and the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.

This fi nancial report includes the consolidated fi nancial statements and notes of Finders Resources Limited and controlled enti ti es 
(“Consolidated Enti ty”), and the separate fi nancial statements and notes of Finders Resources Limited as an individual parent enti ty 
(“Parent Enti ty”).

The fi nancial report was authorised for issue in accordance with a resoluti on of the directors on 15 September 2009.

Statement of Compliance
The fi nancial report is a general purpose fi nancial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounti ng Standards, 
including Australian Accounti ng Interpretati ons, other authoritati ve pronouncements of the Australian Accounti ng Standards Board 
and the Corporati ons Act 2001.  Compliance with Australian Accounti ng Standards ensures that the fi nancial statements and notes 
thereto comply with Internati onal Financial Reporti ng Standards.

Historical Cost Conventi on
The fi nancial statements have been prepared under the historical cost conventi on, as modifi ed, where applicable, by the measurement 
at fair value of selected non-current assets, fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabiliti es. 

Criti cal Accounti ng Esti mates and Judgements
The directors evaluate esti mates and judgements incorporated into the fi nancial report based on historical knowledge and best 
available current informati on. Esti mates assume a reasonable expectati on of future events and are based on current trends and 
economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group.

NOTE 2: Statement of Signifi cant Accounti ng Policies

The principal accounti ng policies adopted in the preparati on of the fi nancial report are set out below.  The accounti ng policies have 
been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

a. Principles of Consolidati on
 The consolidated fi nancial statements are those of the consolidated enti ty, comprising Finders Resources Limited and   
 all enti ti es which Finders Resources Limited controlled from ti me to ti me during the year and at balance date.    
 Controlled enti ti es are all those enti ti es over which the consolidated enti ty has the power to govern the fi nancial and   
 operati ng policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voti ng rights.  The    
 existence and eff ect of potenti al voti ng rights that are currently exerciseable or converti ble are considered when assessing  
 whether the consolidated enti ty controls another enti ty.

 At reporti ng date, the assets and liabiliti es of all controlled enti ti es, as well as their results for the period then ended, are
 incorporated into the consolidated fi nancial statements. Where control of an enti ty is obtained during a fi nancial year, its
 results are included from the date on which control commences.  Where control of an enti ty ceases during a fi nancial year
 its results are included for that part of the year during which control exists.  All intercompany balances and transacti ons,
 including unrealised profi ts arising from intra-group transacti ons are eliminated in full.  Accounti ng policies of subsidiaries
 are changed where necessary to ensure consistencies with those policies applied by the parent enti ty. Minority interests  
 in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated income statement and balance sheet  
 respecti vely.

b. Cash and Cash Equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid   
 investments with original maturiti es of 3 months or less, nett  of bank overdraft s.  Bank overdraft s are shown within short- 
 term borrowings in current liabiliti es on the balance sheet.

c. Earnings per Share
 Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing net profi t att ributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of   
 servicing equity (other than dividends), by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during   
 the fi nancial year, adjusted for any bonus element.

 Diluted earnings per share is determined by dividing net profi t att ributable to members, adjusted for –
 a) costs of servicing equity (other than dividends);
 b) the aft er tax eff ect of dividends and interest associated with diluti ve potenti al ordinary shares that have been  
  recognised as expenses; 
 c) other non-discreti onary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the diluti on  
  of potenti al ordinary shares; and
 d) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and diluti ve potenti al ordinary shares, adjusted for any   
  bonus element.

d. Employee Benefi ts
 Provision is made for the consolidated enti ty’s liability for employee benefi ts arising from services rendered by employees  
 to balance date.  Enti tlements expected to be sett led within twelve months of the balance date are measured at the   
 amounts expected to be paid when the liabiliti es are sett led.  All other employee benefi t liabiliti es are measured at the  
 present value of the esti mated future payments.



43Annual Report 2009

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

e. Explorati on and Development Expenditure
 Explorati on and evaluati on expenditure
 Explorati on and evaluati on expenditure is carried forward in the accounts in respect to areas of interest for which the   
 rights of tenure are current and where:
 (i) such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitati on of the area of interest,  
  or alternati vely, by its sale; or 
 (ii) explorati on and/or evaluati on acti viti es in the area have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable   
  assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and acti ve and signifi cant   
  operati ons in, or in relati on to, the area are conti nuing. 

 Where the expenditure is expected to be recouped through development and economic exploitati on of the area of   
 interest, the accumulated costs are transferred to mine properti es and amorti sed over the life of the mine in proporti on to  
 the depleti on of the economically recoverable mineral reserves.

 Costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest which no longer sati sfi es the above policy is writt en off  in the period  
 in which that decision is made.

 Development expenditure
 Development expenditure carried forward represents the accumulati on of explorati on, evaluati on and development   
 expenditure in respect of the Wetar Demonstrati on Project in which trial mining and processing has commenced.

 Amorti sati on of development expenditure is calculated on a unit-of-producti on basis so as to write off  the cost over the  
 life of the project in proporti on to the depleti on of the anti cipated recoverable mineral reserves.

f. Financial Instruments
 Recogniti on and Initi al Measurement
 Financial assets and fi nancial liabiliti es are recognised when the enti ty becomes a party to the contractual provisions to  
 the instrument.  For fi nancial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the company commits itself to either the purchase  
 or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounti ng is adopted).

 Financial instruments are initi ally measured at fair value plus transacti on costs, except where the instrument is classifi ed  
 ‘at fair value through profi t or loss’, in which case transacti on costs are expensed to profi t or loss immediately.

 Classifi cati on and Subsequent Measurement
 Financial instruments are subsequently measured at either of fair value, amorti sed cost using the eff ecti ve interest   
 rate method, or cost.  Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability sett led,   
 between knowledgeable, willing parti es.  Where available, quoted prices in an acti ve market are used to determine fair  
 value.  In other circumstances, valuati on techniques are adopted.

 Amorti sed cost is calculated as:
 a) the amount at which the fi nancial asset or fi nancial liability is measured at initi al recogniti on;
 b) less principal repayments;
 c) plus or minus the cumulati ve amorti sati on of the diff erence, if any, between the amount initi ally recognised and  
  the maturity amount calculated using the eff ecti ve interest method; and
 d) less any reducti on for impairment.

 The eff ecti ve interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period and is   
 equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts esti mated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, transacti on costs  
 and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual  
 term) of the fi nancial instrument to the net carrying amount of the fi nancial asset or fi nancial liability.  Revisions to   
 expected future net cash fl ows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value with a consequenti al recogniti on of an  
 income or expense in profi t or loss.

 The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture enti ti es as being subject to the   
 requirements of accounti ng standards specifi cally applicable to fi nancial instruments.

 i. Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss
  Financial assets are classifi ed at ‘fair value through profi t or loss’ when they are either held for trading for   
  the purpose of short-term profi t taking, derivati ves not held for hedging purposes, or when they are designated  
  as such to avoid an accounti ng mismatch or to enable performance evaluati on where a group of fi nancial assets  
  is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk  
  management or investment strategy.  Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in   
  carrying value being included in profi t or loss.  

 ii. Loans and receivables
  Loans and receivables are non-derivati ve fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not   
  quoted in an acti ve market and are subsequently measured at amorti sed cost.

 iii. Held-to-maturity investments
  Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivati ve fi nancial assets that have fi xed maturiti es and fi xed or   
  determinable payments, and it is the Group’s intenti on to hold these investments to maturity.  They   
  are subsequently measured at amorti sed cost.
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 iv. Available-for-sale fi nancial assets
  Available-for-sale fi nancial assets are non-derivati ve fi nancial assets that are either not suitable to be classifi ed  
  into other categories of fi nancial assets due to their nature, or they are designated as such by management.   
  They comprise investments in the equity of other enti ti es where there is neither a fi xed maturity nor fi xed or  
  determinable payments.
 
 v. Financial liabiliti es
  Borrowings are initi ally recognised at fair value, net of transacti on costs.  Borrowings are subsequently
  measured at amorti sed cost.  Any diff erence between the proceeds (net of transacti on costs) and the
  redempti on amount is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowing using the eff ecti ve
  interest method.

  The fair value of the liability porti on of a converti ble note is determined using a market interest rate for an
  equivalent non-converti ble debt instrument.  This amount is recorded as a liability on an amorti sed cost basis
  unti l exti nguished on conversion or maturity of the note.  The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the
  conversion opti on.  This is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of income tax eff ects.

  Borrowings are classifi ed as current liabiliti es unless the consolidated enti ty has an unconditi onal right to defer
  sett lement of the liability for at least 12 months aft er the balance sheet date.

  Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

 Fair Value
 Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments.  Valuati on techniques are applied to   
 determine the fair value for all unlisted securiti es, including recent arm’s length transacti ons, reference to    
 similar instruments and opti on pricing models.

 Impairment
 At each reporti ng date, the Group assesses whether there is objecti ve evidence that a fi nancial instrument has been   
 impaired.  In the case of available-for-sale fi nancial instruments, a prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is   
 considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen.  Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

 De-recogniti on
 Financial assets are de-recognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash fl ows expires or the asset is transferred  
 to another party whereby the enti ty no longer has any signifi cant conti nuing involvement in the risks and benefi ts   
 associated with the asset.  Financial liabiliti es are de-recognised where the related obligati ons are either discharged,   
 cancelled or expired.  The diff erence between the carrying value of the fi nancial liability exti nguished or transferred to  
 another party and the fair value of considerati on paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabiliti es assumed, is  
 recognised in profi t or loss.

g. Foreign Currency Transacti ons and Balances
 Functi onal and presentati on currency
 The functi onal currency of each of the group’s enti ti es is measured using the currency of the primary economic   
 environment in which that enti ty operates. The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented in Australian   
 dollars which is the parent enti ty’s functi onal and presentati on currency.

 Transacti on and balances
 Foreign currency transacti ons are translated into functi onal currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of  
 the transacti on. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. Non-monetary   
 items measured at historical cost conti nue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transacti on. 
 Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were   
 determined.

 Exchange diff erences arising on the translati on of monetary items are recognised in the income statement, except where  
 deferred in equity as a qualifying cash fl ow or net investment hedge.

 Exchange diff erences arising on the translati on of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the extent that  
 the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange diff erence is recognised in the income statement.

 Group companies
 The fi nancial results and positi on of foreign operati ons whose functi onal currency is diff erent from the group’s   
 presentati on currency are translated as follows:
 - assets and liabiliti es are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporti ng date;
 - income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and
 - retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transacti on.

 Exchange diff erences arising on translati on of foreign operati ons are transferred directly to the foreign currency   
 translati on reserve in the balance sheet. These diff erences are recognised in the income statement in the period in 
 which the operati on is disposed.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

h. Goods and Services Tax (GST)
 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST or Value Added Tax (VAT), except where   
 the amount of GST or VAT incurred is not recoverable from the relevant tax authoriti es.  In these circumstances   
 the GST or VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisiti on of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.    
 Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST or VAT.

 Cash fl ows are presented in the cash fl ow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST or VAT component of   
 investi ng and fi nancing acti viti es, which are presented as operati ng cash fl ows.

i. Impairment of Assets
 At each reporti ng date, the consolidated enti ty reviews the carrying values of its assets to determine whether there is   
 any indicati on that those assets have been impaired.  If such an indicati on exists, the recoverable amount of the asset,  
 being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value.  Any  
 excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the income statement.

 Where it is not possible to esti mate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group esti mates the recoverable  
 amount of the cash-generati ng unit to which the asset belongs.

j. Income Tax
 The charge for current income tax expense is based on the profi t for the year adjusted for any non-assessable or   
 disallowed items.  It is calculated using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or are subsequently enacted by  
 the reporti ng date.

 Tax losses for current and prior periods are recognised as an income tax asset only where realisati on of the benefi t can be  
 regarded as being probable.

k. Inventories
 Inventories of copper cathode and work in progress are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost includes  
 raw materials, labour and other direct expenditure together with a porti on of fi xed and variable overhead att ributable to  
 the inventory on hand, calculated on a weighted average basis.

 Inventories of consumables and spares are valued at cost less, where appropriate, a provision for obsolescence.

l. Leases
 Payments for operati ng leases, where substanti ally all the risks and benefi ts remain with the lessor, are charged as   
 expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

m. Operati ng Segments
 Operati ng segment informati on is based on the consolidated enti ty’s reporti ng structure and internal reports that are   
 regularly reviewed by the Group’s Board for the purposes of decision making.  The consolidated enti ty is developing a   
 copper project on the Indonesian island of Wetar and conducti ng mineral explorati on on Wetar Island and in Sumatra.  
 The internal reporti ng structure is focussed on Copper Mining, Explorati on and Head Offi  ce Administrati on, which forms  
 the basis for the operati ng segments.

n. Plant and Equipment
 Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciati on and  
 impairment losses.

 The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the   
 recoverable amount from these assets.

 Depreciati on
 Fixed assets are depreciated over their useful lives commencing from the ti me the asset is held ready for use.

 Depreciati on on copper processing plant and equipment is calculated on a unit-of-producti on basis so as to write off  the  
 cost of each asset in proporti on to the depleti on of the economically recoverable mineral reserves.

 Depreciati on of other plant and equipment is calculated on a straight line basis so as to write off  the cost of each asset  
 over its esti mated useful life, generally at a rate of between 12.5% and 25% per annum.

o. Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or constructi ve obligati on, as a result of past events, for which it is  
 probable that an outf low of economic benefi ts will result and that outf low can be reliably measured.  Provisions   
 are measured at the present value of management’s best esti mate of the expenditure required to sett le the    
 present obligati on at the reporti ng date.  The discount rate used to determine the present value refl ects current   
 assessment of the ti me value of money and the risks specifi c to the liability.  The increase in the provision due to   
 the passage of ti me is recognised as interest expense.

p. Rehabilitati on and Restorati on Costs
 Expenditure relati ng to ongoing rehabilitati on and restorati on programmes are provided for or charged to costs of   
 producti on as incurred.  Other rehabilitati on and restorati on costs are accrued over the life of the mine.  The esti mated  
 costs are reassessed on a regular basis and changes in esti mates are dealt with on a prospecti ve basis.  The esti mates are  
 based on current costs, current legal requirements and current technology.
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q. Revenue
 Sales of copper cathode are recognised when the ti tle has passed to the customer and the selling price can be determined with
 reasonable accuracy.  All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

 Interest revenue is recognised using the eff ecti ve interest rate method, which for fl oati ng rate fi nancial assets is the rate
 inherent in the instrument.

r. Share-based Payments
 Share-based compensati on benefi ts are provided to employees under the Company’s Employee Share Opti on Plan.  The fair value
 of opti ons granted under the Plan is recognised as an employee benefi t expense with a corresponding increase in equity.  The fair
 value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the employee becomes unconditi onally enti tled to the
 opti ons.

s. Comparati ve Figures
 Certain comparati ve numbers have been reclassifi ed to conform with the current year presentati on, the material changes being –
 i) the separate disclosure of explorati on expenditure in the balance sheet.  Explorati on expenditure (2008: $1,961,000) was  
  previously included in development expenditure; and
 ii) the separate disclosure of exchange loss in the income statement.  Exchange loss (2008: $1,871,000) was previously   
  included in other expenses.

t. New Accounti ng Standards for Applicati on in Future Periods
 The AASB has issued new, revised and amended standards and interpretati ons that have mandatory applicati on dates for future   
 reporti ng periods. The Group has decided against early adopti on of these standards.  A discussion of those future requirements and  
 their impact on the Group follows:

 • AASB 3: Business Combinati ons, AASB 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, AASB 2008-3: Amendments  
  to Australian Accounti ng Standards arising from AASB 3 and AASB 127 [AASBs 1,2,4,5,7,101,107, 112, 114, 116, 121,128,  
  131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138 & 139 and Interpretati ons 9 & 107] (applicable for annual reporti ng periods commencing  
  from 1 July 2009) and AASB 2008-7: Amendments to Australian Accounti ng Standards – Cost of an Investment in a   
  Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Enti ty or Associate [AASB 1, AASB 118, AASB 121, AASB 127 & AASB 136] (applicable for   
  annual reporti ng periods commencing from 1 January 2009).  These standards are applicable prospecti vely and so will only  
  aff ect relevant transacti ons and consolidati ons occurring from the date of applicati on.  In this regard, its impact on the  
  Group will be unable to be determined.  The following changes to accounti ng requirements are included:
  — acquisiti on costs incurred in a business combinati on will no longer be recognised in goodwill but will be expensed  
   unless the cost relates to issuing debt or equity securiti es;
  — conti ngent considerati on will be measured at fair value at the acquisiti on date and may only be provisionally  
   accounted for during a period of 12 months aft er acquisiti on;
  — a gain or loss of control will require the previous ownership interests to be remeasured to their fair value;
  — there shall be no gain or loss from transacti ons aff ecti ng a parent’s ownership interest of a subsidiary with all  
   transacti ons required to be accounted for through equity (this will not represent a change to the Group’s policy);
  — dividends declared out of pre-acquisiti on profi ts will not be deducted from the cost of an investment but will be  
   recognised as income;
  — impairment of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates shall be considered when a dividend is  
   paid by the respecti ve investee; and
  — where there is, in substance, no change to Group interests, parent enti ti es inserted above existi ng groups shall  
   measure the cost of its investments at the carrying amount of its share of the equity items shown in the balance  
   sheet of the original parent at the date of reorganisati on.
  The Group will need to determine whether to maintain its present accounti ng policy of calculati ng goodwill acquired based  
  on the parent enti ty’s share of net assets acquired or change its policy so goodwill recognised also refl ects that of the non- 
  controlling interest.
 • AASB 101: Presentati on of Financial Statements, AASB 2007-8: Amendments to Australian Accounti ng Standards arising  
  from AASB 101, and AASB 2007-10: Further Amendments to Australian Accounti ng Standards arising from AASB 101 (all  
  applicable to annual reporti ng periods commencing from 1 January 2009).  The revised AASB 101 and amendments   
  supersede the previous AASB 101 and redefi nes the compositi on of fi nancial statements including  the inclusion of a 
  statement of comprehensive income.  There will be no measurement or recogniti on impact on the Group. If an enti ty has  
  made a prior period adjustment or reclassifi cati on, a third balance sheet as at the beginning of the comparati ve period will  
  be required.
 • AASB 123: Borrowing Costs and AASB 2007-6: Amendments to Australian Accounti ng Standards arising from AASB   
  123 [AASB 1, AASB 101, AASB 107, AASB 111, AASB 116 & AASB 138 and Interpretati ons 1 & 12] (applicable for annual  
  reporti ng periods commencing from 1 January 2009).  The revised AASB 123 has removed the opti on to expense   
  all borrowing costs and will therefore require the capitalisati on of all borrowing costs directly att ributable to the   
  acquisiti on, constructi on or producti on of a qualifying asset.  Management has determined that there will be no eff ect on  
  the Group as a policy of capitalising qualifying borrowing costs has been maintained by the Group.
 • AASB 2008-1: Amendments to Australian Accounti ng Standard – Share-based Payments: Vesti ng Conditi ons and   
  Cancellati ons [AASB 2] (applicable for annual reporti ng periods commencing from 1 January 2009).  This amendment   
  to AASB 2 clarifi es that vesti ng conditi ons consist of service and performance conditi ons only.  Other elements of   
  a share-based payment transacti on should therefore be considered for the purposes of determining fair value.    
  Cancellati ons are also required to be treated in the same manner whether cancelled by the enti ty or by another party.
 
The Group does not anti cipate early adopti on of any of the above reporti ng requirements and does not expect these requirements to have any 
material eff ect on the Group’s fi nancial statements.
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NOTE 3: INCOME TAX

Tax losses

Temporary diff erences

NOTE 4: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NOTE 5: RECEIVABLES

a) The consolidated enti ty’s projects in Indonesia are funded by loans to controlled enti ti es which are interest free unti l   
 the commencement of commercial producti on.  
 On 30 June 2009, the Company converted its loan to Banda Minerals Pty Ltd into shares, thereby increasing the   
 Company’s interest (indirectly) in PT Batutua Tembaga Raya, which owns the Wetar Project, from 72.54% to 93.97%.

b) A provision for impairment has been booked against value added tax receivable to recognise the uncertainty that the   
 receivable will be refunded in full.  Other than the foregoing, there are no balances within trade and other receivables   
 that are impaired or past due. 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

Cash at bank and in hand 1,706 4,988 374 4,681

CURRENT

Trade receivable 69

Owing by controlled entities 727

Other receivables 79 425 14 209

148 425 741 209

NON CURRENT

Value added tax receivable 2,156

Provision for impairment 5(b) (600)

1,556

Loans to controlled entities 5(a) 6,365 18,685

1,556 6,365 18,685

Note Consolidated Entity Parent Entity
2009

$’000
2008

$’000
2009

$’000
2008

$’000
Reconciliation of income tax expense
to prima facie tax payable

Loss before income tax (11,652) (6,675) (3,290) (1,502)
Income tax benefit calculated at tax rate of 30%
(2008: 30%) (3,496) (2,003) (987) (451)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible in
calculating taxable income:
- Finance costs 35 35
- Share based payments 8 8
- Other non deductible expenses 176 593 91 1
Difference in overseas tax rate 141
Deferred tax assets not brought to account
- Tax losses not recognised 2,883 1,410 756 450
- Timing differences not recognised 253 97
Income tax expense

T l

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has
been recognised 16,716 14,723 5,699 3,342

Potential tax benefit at 30% (Australia), 28% (Indonesia) 4,796 4,417 1,710 1,003

Deductible temporary differences for which no deferred
tax asset has been recognised 347 324

Potential tax benefit at 30% (Australia), 28% (Indonesia) 106 97
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NOTE 6: FINANCIAL ASSETS

a) Security deposits include $17,000 held by the parent enti ty’s banker to secure a bank guarantee issued by the bank on  
 behalf of the parent enti ty (Note 19).  The remaining security deposits comprise cash held by suppliers to a controlled   
 enti ty to secure payments for services.

b) Available-for-sale fi nancial assets comprise investments in the ordinary issued capital of various enti ti es.  There are no   
 fi xed returns or fi xed maturity dates att ached to these investments.  The fair value of unlisted available-for-sale fi nancial  
 assets cannot be reliably measured.  As a result, all unlisted investments are refl ected at cost. 

NOTE 7: INVENTORIES

NOTE 8: OTHER ASSETS

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

Note Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

CURRENT

Held to maturity financial assets

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

- Security deposits 6(a) 129

NON CURRENT

Available for sale financial assets 6(b)

- Shares in listed corporations, at fair value 236 354 236 354

- Shares in unlisted controlled entities, at cost 33,697 5,090

Held to maturity financial assets

- Security deposits 6(a) 292 24 17

528 378 33,950 5,444

Inventories, at cost

Raw materials and consumables 440

Work in progress 1,201

Finished goods 61

1,702

CURRENT

Prepayments 117 629 12

NON CURRENT

Prepayments 808
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NOTE 9: PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

NOTE 10: DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE 

NOTE 11: EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE NOTE 

Recoverability of the carrying amount of explorati on assets is dependent on the successful explorati on, development and commercial 
exploitati on or alternati vely, sale of the project areas.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

Exploration expenditure capitalised 4,897 1,961

Movements:

Opening net book value 1,961

Additions 2,798 1,961

Exchange rate effect 138

Closing net book value 4,897 1,961

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Plant equipment at cost 9,511 336 28 25

Less: accumulated depreciation (524) (69) (13) (6)

8,987 267 15 19

Construction in progress 3,634

8,987 3,901 15 19

Movements:

Plant and equipment

Opening net book value 267 112 19 8

Additions 5,282 226 3 16

Transfer from construction in progress 3,634

Disposals (15)

Depreciation charge (468) (56) (7) (5)

Exchange rate effect 272

Closing net book value 8,987 267 15 19

Construction in progress

Opening net book value 3,634

Additions 3,634

Transfer to plant and equipment (3,634)

Closing net book value 3,634

Development expenditure capitalised 4,238 3,195

Less: accumulated amortisation (121)

4,117 3,195

Movements:

Opening net book value 3,195

Additions 811 3,195

Amortisation charge (121)

Exchange rate effect 232

Closing net book value 4,117 3,195
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NOTE 12: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

a) Foreign currency risks
Trade creditors and accruals are denominated in the following currencies -

NOTE 13: BORROWINGS

a) Assets pledged as security
 i) The loans are secured by a fi rst ranking fi xed and fl oati ng charge over the assets of the parent enti ty.  The book  
  value of the assets at balance date was $41.4 million.  Included in the loans is an amount of $1.2 million owed  
  by a controlled enti ty for the forward sale and purchase of copper cathode (Note 13(e)).  The parent enti ty   
  has guaranteed the payment  obligati ons of the controlled enti ty.
 ii) The deferred sett lement liability is secured by a mortgage over an ocean-going transportati on vessel owned by  
  Finders Resources NZ Limited.  The book value of the vessel at balance date was $627,000.
 iii) The converti ble note is secured by a second ranking fi xed and fl oati ng charge over the assets of the parent   
  enti ty.  The book value of the assets at balance date was $41.4 million.

b) Loans and loan repayments
 i) Of the loans, $6.3 million is repayable on 31 December 2009 and the balance on 31 March 2010.  In August   
  2009, the Company repaid part of the loan maturing 31 December 2009 from the proceeds of Tranche 1 of the  
  share placement (Note 27) and the balance will be repaid in September 2009 upon completi on of Tranche 2 of  
  the share placement.
 ii) The deferred sett lement liability was repaid in August 2009.
 iii) During the year, the Company entered into loan agreements with four directors, Messrs R Fountain, C Farmer, R  
  Thomson and S de Belle, pursuant to which the directors and/or the director-related enti ti es lent the Company  
  a total of $714,000. The loans and accrued interest were converted into shares in the Company following   
  shareholders approval at an extraordinary general meeti ng on 4 May 2009. 

c) Converti ble note
 Pursuant to a US$1.5 million 12% Converti ble Note Facility Agreement (“Facility”), the note is converti ble into shares in  
 the parent enti ty at the opti on of the noteholder, and if not converted, repayable on 19 January 2012.  At balance date,  
 the note is converti ble into 6,281,005 shares in the parent enti ty, being the equivalent Australian Dollar value of the note  
 on drawdown of the Facility, at a conversion price of $0.37.  

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

Note Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Trade creditors and accruals 3,358 2,198 747 308

Australian Dollar 1,300 1,237 734 308

British Pound 9 9

Indonesian Rupiah 636 448

United States Dollar 1,413 513 4

3,358 2,198 747 308

CURRENT

Secured

Loans 13(a)(i),(b)(i) 7,500 6,268

Deferred settlement liability 13(a)(ii),(b)(ii) 314

7,814 6,268

NON CURRENT

Secured

Loan 4,217 4,217

Convertible note 13(a)(iii),(c) 1,747 1,747

1,747 4,217 1,747 4,217



51Annual Report 2009

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

d) Foreign currency risks
The borrowings (current and non-current) are denominated in the following currencies -

e) Loan faciliti es (secured)
 

NOTE 14: PROVISIONS

The provision for rehabilitati on and restorati on has been recognised in connecti on with the Group’s closure obligati ons when the 
Wetar project ceases operati ons in the future.   The ti ming of the site rehabilitati on will depend on the mine life of the full scale project 
to be developed. 

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Face value of convertible note 2,324 2,324

Other equity security – value of conversion rights (159) (159)

Exchange rate effect (418) (418)

1,747 1,747

United States Dollar 9,247 4,217 8,015 4,217

New Zealand Dollar 314

9,561 4,217 8,015 4,217

2009 2008

Facility
limit

Used Unused Facility
limit

Used Unused Repayment
date

Interest
rate

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Loan 5,000 5,000 5,000 3,750 1,250 31 Dec 2009 90 day
LIBOR plus

7%pa

Forward sale
and purchase
of copper

2,000 1,000 1,000 31 Mar 2010 90 day
LIBOR plus

7%pa

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

CURRENT

Employee entitlements 7 7

NON CURRENT

Rehabilitation and restoration 1,240

Movements in provision for

rehabilitation and restoration:

Opening net book value

Provision recognised for the year 1,307

Unwinding of discount (67)

Closing net book value 1,240

NOTE 13: BORROWINGS (conti nued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

NOTE 15: ISSUED CAPITAL

Movements:

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares parti cipate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent enti ty in proporti on to the number of shares 
held.

At a general meeti ng on a show of hands, each shareholder present has one vote and on a poll each shareholder present has:

(i) one vote for each fully paid share held; and
(ii) for each share which is not fully paid a fracti on of a vote equivalent to the proporti on which the amount paid up, but not  
 credited as paid up, on that share bears to the total of the amounts paid and payable (excluding amounts credited) on   
 that share.

Capital management
At this stage of the Group’s development, its objecti ves in capital management are to ensure that the Group can meet its debts as and 
when they become due and payable and to maintain an opti mal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.  Even though the Group 
commenced generati ng a modest cashfl ow from copper sales since the commissioning of the Wetar Demonstrati on Plant in February 
2009, its funding requirements have largely been sourced from equity funds.  

Consistent with the above objecti ves, the Company raised funds from a converti ble note issue and share placements during the year 
and since 30 June 2009 for the development of the Wetar Project, to reti re debt maturing at the end of 2009 and for working capital. 

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

115,548,673 (2008: 74,911,425)

fully paid ordinary shares 39,722 28,025 39,722 28,025

Date Number of
shares

‘000

Issue price Issued capital

$’000

1 Jul 2008 Balance at beginning of financial year 74,912 28,025

2 Jul 2008 Exercise of options 10 $0.50 5

9 Oct 2008 Share purchase plan 272 $0.60 163

17 Oct 2008 Placement 1,725 $0.60 1,035

23 Oct 2008 Placement 6,925 $0.60 4,155

8 Dec 2008 Share based payment – corporate advisory fees 208 $0.60 125

19 Jan 2009 Share based payment – convertible note establishment fees 113 $0.40 45

26 Mar 2009 Exercise of options 288 $0.50 144

26 Mar 2009 Placement 6,400 $0.20 1,280

4 May 2009 Placement 3,000 $0.18 549

7 May 2009 Placement 18,559 $0.20 3,712

7 May 2009 Conversion of directors loans 2,985 $0.20 597

7 May 2009 Conversion of interest payable on convertible note 152 $0.29 44

Less share issue expenses (157)

30 Jun 2009 Balance at end of financial year 115,549 39,722
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

NOTE 16: OPTIONS

Details of opti ons on issue

Vesti ng dates

i) Upon securing fi nance for the full scale Wetar Copper Project.
ii) 750,000 opti ons upon completi on of Wetar Copper Project defi niti ve feasibility study and 1,250,000 on commencement of  
 commercial producti on from the full scale Wetar Copper Project.
iii) Upon producti on from the full scale Wetar Copper Project reaching 75% of nameplate design capacity.
iv) 125,000 opti ons on grant date and 500,000 opti ons upon producti on from the full scale Wetar Copper Project reaching  
 75% of nameplate design capacity.
v) 180 days aft er drawdown of a project fi nance facility for the development of the full scale Wetar Copper Project.

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
’000

2008
’000

2009
’000

2008
’000

Number of options on issue

Balance at beginning of financial year 4,924 5,025 4,924 5,025

Add: Options issued 4,375 4,375

Less: Options exercised (288) (101) (288) (101)

Options lapsed (4,136) (4,136)

Balance at end of financial year 4,875 4,924 4,875 4,924

Number of options Exercise price Vesting date/conditions Expiry date

2009

‘000

2008

‘000

3,101 $0.50 20 Mar 2009

1,323 24.00p 20 Mar 2009

500 500 $0.6875 Vested 13 Jun 2010

500 $0.30 10 May 2009 16 Apr 2012

500 $0.30 Note 16(i) 16 Apr 2014

2,000 $0.30 Note 16(ii) 8 May 2014

250 $0.37 Note 16(iii) 23 Jun 2014

625 $0.37 Note 16(iv) 28 Jun 2014

500 $0.37 Note 16(v) 29 Jun 2014

4,875 4,924
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

NOTE 17: RESERVES

Equity reserve
The equity reserve arises from the acquisiti on of shares in a controlled enti ty from a minority shareholder and the value of 
conversion rights att ached to the converti ble note.

Foreign currency translati on reserve
The foreign currency translati on reserve records exchange diff erences arising on translati on of a foreign controlled subsidiary.

Share-based payments reserve
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of equity instruments issued to employees.

Financial asset reserve
The fi nancial asset reserve records revaluati on of fi nancial assets. 

NOTE 18: COMMITMENTS

Operati ng lease commitments

Capital expenditure commitments 

Opti on to acquire SX-EW processing plant
PT Batutua Tembaga Raya, a controlled enti ty, has entered into an opti on agreement with Straits Resources Limited to  acquire the 
latt er’s solvent extracti on-electrowinning (SX-EW) plant currently being operated at the latt er’s Whim Creek project.  Under the 
agreement, the controlled enti ty has the right to acquire the SX-EW plant at any ti me on or before 31 March 2010 for a considerati on 
of $5.0 million which the Company has agreed to pay on behalf of the controlled enti ty by the issue of shares in the Company.  The 
Company has also agreed to pay the opti on fee ($250,000) by the issue of 724,638 shares in the Company.

NOTE 19: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The bank guarantee issued by the Company’s banker in favour of a third party to secure obligati ons of the Company is secured by 
cash on deposit with the bank (Note 6(a)).

557 36

24 24

581 60

156 156

Bank guarantee 17 17

Commitments for minimum lease payments in
relation to non cancellable operating leases

— Payable within 1 year

— Payable later than 1 year but not later
than 5 years

Capital commitments contracted for but not
recognised as liabilities in the financial
statements

— Payable within 1 year

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Equity reserve (166) (166)

Foreign currency translation reserve 1,672 1,868

Share based payments reserve 28 28

Financial assets reserve (94) 24 (94) 24

1,440 1,892 (232) 24
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NOTE 20: CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Acquisiti on and increase in interest in controlled enti ti es
a) On 30 June 2009, the Company, increased its interest (indirectly) in PT Batutua Tembaga Raya, which owns the   
 Wetar Project, to 93.97% (2008: 72.54%) by the acquisiti on of 385 shares in Banda Minerals Pty Ltd from the minority   
 shareholder as well as the conversion of its loan to Banda Minerals Pty Ltd into shares.
b) A wholly-owned subsidiary, Finders Resources NZ Limited, was incorporated in New Zealand on 30 June 2008 to facilitate  
 the acquisiti on of an ocean-going transportati on vessel used for the Wetar Project. 

NOTE 21: OPERATING SEGMENTS

The consolidated enti ty operates in two geographical locati ons, being Australia and Indonesia.  Its minerals business is based in 
Indonesia where it is developing a copper project on the island of Wetar and conducti ng mineral explorati on on Wetar Island and 
Sumatra. In the 2008 Annual Report, segment informati on was reported based on geographical locati ons.  The primary reporti ng 
segments below are based on the consolidated enti ty’s current reporti ng structure, being Copper Mining and Explorati on. This 
presentati on is based on the requirements of AASB 8: Operati ng Segments which the consolidated enti ty has elected to adopt early.

Copper mining is centred on the Wetar Project where a demonstrati on plant was commissioned in February 2009.  The demonstrati on 
plant has a producti on capacity of 5 tonnes a day of copper cathode.

 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

Country of Incorporation Percentage Owned*

2009
%

2008
%

Banda Minerals Pty Ltd Australia 93.94 72.38

PT Batutua Tembaga Raya # Indonesia 93.97 72.54

Way Kanan Resources Pty Ltd Australia 71.71 71.71

PT Batutua Lampung Elok # Indonesia 71.82 71.82

Finders Resources NZ Limited New Zealand 100.00 100.00

* Percentage of voting power is in proportion to ownership

# Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Indonesia

Copper Mining Exploration Total

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Revenue

Sales revenue 3,082 3,082

Unallocated revenue 63 377

Total revenue 3,145 377

Result

Segment result (2,381) (2,480) (527) (2,435) (2,908) (4,915)

Pre production costs written off (4,616) (4,616)

Unallocated income less unallocated
expenses (4,128) (1,760)

Loss before income tax (11,652) (6,675)

Income tax expense

Loss after income tax (11,652) (6,675)

Assets

Segment assets 22,414 10,782 304 447 22,718 11,229

Unallocated assets 1,040 5,185

Total assets 23,758 16,414

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 4,908 1,824 175 66 5,083 1,890

Unallocated liabilities 9,083 4,525

Total liabilities 14,166 6,415
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Geographical Segments

The controlled enti ty sells all its copper producti on from the Wetar demonstrati on plant to Tennant Metals Pty Ltd pursuant to a 
Copper Cathode Sales Agreement between the parti es.

NOTE 22: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

Detailed remunerati on disclosures are set out in the Remunerati on Report secti on of the Directors’ Report on pages 28 to 32.

Key management personnel compensati on

Equity instrument disclosures

a) Shareholdings
Number of Shares in respect of which Directors and other key management personnel have a relevant interest, directly or through 
related enti ti es.

(a) Acquisiti ons of shares by directors comprise shares received by the directors on conversion of loans (Note 13(b)(iii)) and  
 parti cipati on in a share purchase plan and market placement.
(b) Mr Ian Neuss reti red as an alternate director on 25 March 2009.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

Revenue from Sales

to External Customers

Segment Assets

2009 2008 2009 2008

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Australia 1,194 5,275

Indonesia 3,082 22,564 11,139

3,082 23,758 16,414

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$

2008
$

2009
$

2008
$

Short term employee benefits 1,080,961 810,218 455,630 810,218

Post employment benefits 165,109 145,109 165,109 145,109

Share based payments 27,866 27,866

1,273,936 955,327 648,605 955,327

2009 Balance

1 Jul 2008

Acquisitions Exercise

of options

Other Balance

30 Jun 2009

Directors

Russell Fountain 5,847,869 1,463,469 133,333 7,444,671

Christopher Farmer 5,381,202 584,493 5,965,695

Michael Stirzaker (appointed 3 Jun 2009) 4,017,858 4,017,858

Robert Thomson (appointed 6 Jan 2009) 528,496 528,496

Stephen de Belle 1,812,999 2,471,801 134,000 4,418,800

Stephen Lonergan 41,600 8,333 20,800 70,733

T Quinn Roussel (appointed 25 Mar 2009)

Other key management personnel

Chin Haw Lim (appointed 10 Nov 2008)

Geoffrey Hiller (appointed 25 Jun 2009) 950,000 950,000

Grant Harding 10,000 10,000 20,000

Total 13,093,670 4,538,096 288,133 5,496,354 23,416,253
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

Mr Dominic Barrington ceased to be part of key management personnel on 30 June 2008.

b) Opti on Holdings
Number of Opti ons in respect of which Directors and other key management personnel have a relevant interest, directly or through 
related enti ti es.

2008 Balance

1 Jul 2007

Acquisitions Exercise

of options

Other Balance

30 Jun 2008

Directors

Russell Fountain 5,747,869 100,000 5,847,869

Christopher Farmer 5,381,202 5,381,202

Stephen de Belle 1,812,999 1,812,999

Stephen Lonergan 41,600 41,600

Ian Neuss 5,736,543 5,736,543

Other key management personnel

Dominic Barrington

Grant Harding 10,000 10,000

Total 18,720,213 110,000 18,830,213

2009 Balance

1 Jul 2008

Granted

(Exercised)

Balance

30 Jun 2009

Vested and

exerciseable

Unvested

Directors

Russell Fountain 133,333 (133,333)

Christopher Farmer

Michael Stirzaker (appointed 3 Jun 2009)

Robert Thomson (appointed 6 Jan 2009) 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

Stephen de Belle 134,000 (134,000)

Stephen Lonergan 20,800 (20,800)

T Quinn Roussel (appointed 25 Mar 2009)

Other key management personnel

Chin Haw Lim 1,000,000 1,000,000 500,000 500,000

Geoffrey Hiller 500,000 500,000 500,000

Grant Harding 625,000 625,000 125,000 500,000

Total 288,133 3,836,867 4,125,000 625,000 3,500,000

2008 Balance

1 Jul 2007

Granted

(Exercised)

Balance

30 Jun 2008

Vested and

exerciseable

Unvested

Directors

Russell Fountain 133,333 133,333 133,333

Christopher Farmer

Stephen de Belle 134,000 134,000 134,000

Stephen Lonergan 20,800 20,800 20,800

Ian Neuss 102,400 102,400 102,400

Other key management personnel

Dominic Barrington

Grant Harding

Total 390,533 390,533 390,533
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NOTE 23: SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company has an established Employee Share Opti on Plan.  The Plan is designed to provide long-term incenti ves to employees 
of the consolidated enti ty.  The Plan is administered by the Directors who have power to determine the terms and conditi ons of the 
opti ons issued to eligible employees.  Parti cipati on in the Plan is at the discreti on of the Board.

Opti ons granted - 2009
The opti ons set out below were granted during the fi nancial year under the Plan.  These comprise the total opti ons outstanding under 
the Plan.

The vesti ng conditi ons att ached to the opti ons above are set out in Note 16.

Expense arising from share-based payments

Fair value of opti ons granted
The fair value of the opti ons granted during the year were esti mated using the Black Scholes opti on pricing model with the following 
assumpti ons –

The exercise prices for the above opti ons were set at a ti me which refl ected a premium over the market price of the shares.  Due to the 
ti me that elapsed between the date when the exercise prices were set and the grant date, some of the opti on exercise prices appear 
to be at a discount to the market prices.

Shares granted - 2008
On 11 January 2008 the Company issued 70,000 fully paid ordinary shares to its employees.  The share price on 11 January 2008 was 
$1.05.  A total of $73,000 was recognised as an expense in the year ended 30 June 2008.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise Price Number Number vested
and exerciseable

at end of year

16 Apr 2009 16 Apr 2012 $0.30 500,000 500,000

16 Apr 2009 16 Apr 2014 $0.30 500,000

8 May 2009 8 May 2014 $0.30 2,000,000

24 Jun 2009 23 Jun 2014 $0.37 250,000

29 Jun 2009 28 Jun 2014 $0.37 125,000 125,000

29 Jun 2009 28 Jun 2014 $0.37 500,000

29 Jun 2009 29 Jun 2014 $0.37 500,000

4,375,000 625,000

Weighted average exercise price $0.32 $0.31

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Options issued under Employee Share Option Plan 28 28

Shares issued 73 73

28 73 28 73

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price Share price at
grant date

Risk free rate Volatility

16 Apr 2009 16 Apr 2012 $0.30 $0.35 4.00% 78.3%

16 Apr 2009 16 Apr 2014 $0.30 $0.35 3.46% 78.3%

8 May 2009 8 May 2014 $0.30 $0.38 4.66% 77.8%

24 Jun 2009 23 Jun 2014 $0.37 $0.34 5.23% 77.6%

29 Jun 2009 28 Jun 2014 $0.37 $0.35 5.23% 77.4%

29 Jun 2009 28 Jun 2014 $0.37 $0.35 5.23% 77.4%

29 Jun 2009 29 Jun 2014 $0.37 $0.35 5.23% 77.4%
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NOTE 24: AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

NOTE 25: EARNINGS PER SHARE

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$

2008
$

2009
$

2008
$

Remuneration of auditor of parent entity for:

- audit and review of financial report

Current year 95,000 95,000 95,000 95,000

Under accrual in prior year 42,270 42,270

- tax consulting 15,071 13,500 15,071 13,500

- accounting services 22,840 22,840

Remuneration of auditor of Indonesian subsidiaries for:

- audit and review of financial report 60,918 41,938

- tax consulting 8,114

221,373 173,278 152,341 131,340

Consolidated Entity

2009 2008

Basic loss per share 10.8 cents 7.5 cents

Diluted loss per share 10.8 cents 7.0 cents

$’000 $’000

Loss used to calculate basic and diluted loss per share 9,389 5,261

No. No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic loss per share 86,675,065 69,972,875

Potential ordinary shares options outstanding 68,849 4,973,972

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted loss per share 86,743,914 74,946,847
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NOTE 26: RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NOTE 27: EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

Capital Raisings
The Company undertook the following capital raisings subsequent to balance date –
a) A share placement at $0.33 per share to raise $20 million, of which $5.5 million was completed in August 2009   
 (Tranche 1) and the balance (Tranche 2) to be completed following shareholders’ approval at an extraordinary   
 general meeti ng held on 14 September 2009; and
b) A shareholder share purchase plan under which each shareholder is enti tled to subscribe for up to $10,000 in   
 shares in the Company at an issue price of $0.33 per share.

Loan Repayment
At 30 June 2009, the Company had a secured borrowing of A$6.3 million repayable on 31 December 2009.  The loan was parti ally 
repaid in August 2009 from the proceeds of Tranche 1 of the share placement referred to above and the balance will be repaid in 
September 2009 upon completi on of Tranche 2 of the share placement.
 
At 30 June 2009, the consolidated enti ty also had a deferred sett lement liability of $314,000 in connecti on with the purchase of an 
ocean-going transportati on vessel used at the Wetar Project.  The liability was repaid in August 2009.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

2009
$’000

2008
$’000

Loss for the year (11,652) (6,675) (3,290) (1,502)

Unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/ loss 296 1,849 279 (45)

Depreciation and amortisation 589 56 7 5

Financing costs 1,068 998

Loss on assets disposal 14

Share based payment 28 73 28 73

Non current assets written off 5,964 310

Provision for impairment 600

Changes in assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (1,878) (1,602) (532) (147)

(Increase)/decrease in financial assets 153

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (1,702)

(Increase)/decrease in other assets 1,027 (4)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 1,159 1,705 438 148

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 1,247 7

Net cash used in operating activities (3,101) (4,580) (1,759) (1,468)

Non cash financing activities

Shares in the Company were issued during

the financial year for the following

Conversion of loans from directors 597 597

Convertible note establishment fee and interest payable 44 44

Corporate advisory fee 125 125

766 766
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NOTE 28: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

* The Company’s interests in the Wetar Copper Project and the Ojolali Project are held through its subsidiaries, Banda Minerals Pty 
Ltd (“Banda”) and Way Kanan Resources Pty Ltd (“Way Kanan”), the holding companies for PT Batutua Tembaga Raya (“PTBTR”) 
(Wetar Project) and PT Batutua Lampung Elok (“PTBLE”) (Ojolali Project) respecti vely.  PT Batutua Kharisma Permai (“PTBKP”), a 
company controlled by Mr G Mbatemooy, is a minority shareholder in PTBTR and PTBLE.  Pursuant to agreements between the 
Company and PTBKP, the Company provides funding for the Wetar and Ojolali Projects through loan funds to Banda and Way Kanan.

The loan to Banda was converted into shares on 30 June 2009.

c) Key Management Personnel
Disclosures relati ng to key management personnel are set out in Note 22 and the Remunerati on Report.

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity

2009
$

2008
$

2009
$

2008
$

Transactions between related parties are on normal
commercial terms and conditions no more favourable
than those available to other parties unless otherwise
stated.

a) Controlled entities

i) Interest free loans provided by the Company to
its controlled entities (Mr G Mbatemooy is a
director of Banda Minerals Pty Ltd and Way
Kanan Resources Pty Ltd) *

16,563,048 12,953,784

Outstanding balance 6,364,421 18,685,467

b) Directors and director related entities

i) Loans from directors (Messrs R Fountain, C
Farmer, R Thomson and S de Belle) and/or
director related entities. The loans were
converted to shares in the Company during the
year (Note 13(b)(iii)) and through the exercise of
options held.

713,169 713,169

Outstanding balance

ii) Copper cathode sales by a subsidiary, PT
Batutua Tembaga Raya (“PTBTR”), to Tennant
Metals Pty Ltd (a company in which Mr M
Stirzaker, who was appointed Finance Director
of the Company on 3 June 2009, is a significant
shareholder) pursuant to a Copper Cathode
Sales Agreement dated 10 January 2008 (as
amended).

3,082,363

Outstanding balance 68,844

iii) Loan from Tennant Metals Pty Ltd to PTBTR
pursuant to the forward sale and purchase of
copper cathode. The parent entity has provided
security for the facility (Note 13(a)(i)).

1,232,438

Outstanding balance 1,232,438

iv) Payments made to Elliott Geophysics Indonesia,
a company controlled by Mr Peter Elliott who is
a director of Way Kanan Resources Pty Ltd, for
geophysical services.

112,009

Outstanding balance

v) Interest free loan and prepayment of director
fees to Mr G. Mbatemooy.

40,334 46,973 46,973

Outstanding balance 40,334 46,973 46,973
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NOTE 29: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is headquartered in Australia and operates in Indonesia where it manages a demonstrati on plant capable of producing up 
to 2,000 tonnes of copper cathode per annum.  It is exposed to a variety of fi nancial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, 
commodity price risk and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  

The Board has overall responsibility for the determinati on of the Group’s risk management objecti ves and policies.  The Group’s risk 
management program focuses on the unpredictability and volati lity of fi nancial markets and seeks to minimise potenti al adverse 
eff ects on the fi nancial performance of the Group without unduly aff ecti ng the Group’s ability to operate and functi on.

In respect to foreign currency risk, the Board has retained an external consultant to advise on this risk.

a) Market Risk 
 i) Foreign currency risk
  The Group operates in Indonesia and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures,   
  primarily the United States Dollar and the Indonesian Rupiah.  The exposure to the United States Dollar   
  is parti ally miti gated by the natural hedge provided by United States Dollar receipts generated from copper sales.

  Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transacti ons and recognised assets and liabiliti es that are  
  denominated in a currency that is not the Group’s functi onal currency.  The risk is measured using sensiti vity  
  analysis and cash fl ow forecasti ng.
  
 ii)  Commodity price risk
  The Group is now exposed to any adverse movements in the price of copper.  The risk could be managed   
  through the use of derivati ve fi nancial instruments such as forward sale and opti on contracts.  However the   
  Group has not entered into any hedging instruments due to the unpredictability of copper producti on from the  
  demonstrati on plant and the prohibiti ve cost of buying opti ons.

 iii) Interest rate risk
  The group is exposed to interest rate risk through its cash deposits held with banks and its interest bearing   
  commercial loans and converti ble note.  The loans are subject to interest at variable rates (US$ LIBOR) while the  
  converti ble note is at a fi xed rate of 12% per annum.  The risk is measured using cash fl ow forecasti ng.

 iv)  Credit Risk
  Credit risk is the risk that counterparti es may default on their contractual obligati on, resulti ng in a fi nancial loss  
  to the Group.  The risk arises from cash and deposits with fi nancial insti tuti ons and credit exposures to trade  
  customers.  The Group minimizes this risk by maintaining its banking and sales relati onships with credit-worthy  
  parti es.

 v) Liquidity risk
  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter diffi  culty in meeti ng obligati ons associated with fi nancial  
  liabiliti es. The Group currently generates some cash fl ow from the Wetar Copper Project.  Its additi onal funding  
  requirements are sourced from equity raisings.  The Group manages liquidity risk by using cash fl ow forecasti ng.
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b) Financial instrument compositi on and maturity analysis
 The tables below refl ect the undiscounted contractual sett lement terms for fi nancial instruments of a fi xed period  
 of maturity, as well as management’s expectati ons of the sett lement period for all other fi nancial instruments. 

Fixed Interest Rate Maturing
Weighted
Average
Effective

Interest Rate
Floating

Interest Rate Within 1 year
Within 1 to 5

years Non Interest Bearing TOTAL
Consolidated
Entity

Note 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
% % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

4 3.00 3.00 1,706 4,988 1,706 4,988

Receivables 5 1,704 425 1,704 425
Investments 6 236 354 236 354
Security deposit 6 129 17 24 275 292 153

Total Financial
Assets

1,706 4,988 129 17 24 2,215 779 3,938 5,920

Financial
Liabilities
Trade and other
payables

12 3,358 2,198 3,358 2,198

Loans 13 8.40 6.80 7,814 1,906 4,217 9,720 4,217

Total Financial
Liabilities

7,814 1,906 4,217 3,358 2,198 13,078 6,415

Fixed Interest Rate Maturing
Weighted
Average
Effective

Interest Rate
Floating

Interest Rate Within 1 year
Within 1 to 5

years Non Interest Bearing TOTAL
Parent Entity Note 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

% % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash
equivalents

4 3.00 3.00 374 4,681 374 4,681

Receivables 5 7,106 18,894 7,106 18,894

Investments 6 33,933 5,444 33,933 5,444

Security deposit 6 17 17

Total Financial
Assets

374 4,681 17 41,039 24,338 41,430 29,019

Financial
Liabilities
Trade and other
payables

12 747 304 747 304

Loans 13 8.40 6.80 6,268 1,906 4,217 8,174 4,217

Total Financial
Liabilities

6,268 1,906 4,217 747 304 8,921 4,521
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c) Net Fair Values
 The net fair values of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market bid price at balance date.
 All other fi nancial assets and liabiliti es included in the balance sheet are carried at amounts approximate to fair value,   
 except for the converti ble note which had a fair value at balance date of $1,906,000.

d) Sensiti vity Analysis
 Interest Rate Risk, Foreign Currency Risk and Commodity Price Risk
 The group has performed sensiti vity analysis relati ng to its exposure to interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and   
 commodity price risk at balance date.  This sensiti vity analysis demonstrates the eff ect on the current year results and   
 equity which could result from a change in these risks.

Commodity price sensiti vity analysis
The eff ect on profi t and equity as a result of changes in the price of copper, with all other variables remaining constant would be as 
follows:

Interest rate sensiti vity analysis
The eff ect on profi t and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other variables remaining constant would be as 
follows:

Foreign currency sensiti vity analysis
The eff ect on profi t and equity as a result of changes in the value of the Australian Dollar to the United States Dollar, with all other 
variables remaining constant is as follows:

Foreign currency sensiti vity analysis
The eff ect on profi t and equity as a result of changes in the value of the Australian Dollar to the Indonesian Rupiah, with all other 
variables remaining constant is as follows:

Consolidated Entity Parent Entity
2009

$’000
2008

$’000
2009

$’000
2008

$’000
Change in profit
— Increase in copper price by 10% 161
— Decrease in copper price by 10% (161)
Change in equity
— Increase in copper price by 10% 161
— Decrease in copper price by 10% (161)

Change in profit
— Increase in interest rate by 2% (85) 156 (85) 156
— Decrease in interest rate by 2% 85 (156) 85 (156)
Change in equity
— Increase in interest rate by 2% (85) 156 (85) 156
— Decrease in interest rate by 2% 85 (156) 85 (156)

Change in profit
— Improvement in AUD to USD by 5% 142 2 2
— Decline in AUD to USD by 5% (142) (2) (2)
Change in equity
— Improvement in AUD to USD by 5% 114 2 2
— Decline in AUD to USD by 5% (114) (2) (2)

Change in profit
— Improvement in AUD to IDR by 5% 248 94
— Decline in AUD to IDR by 5% (248) (94)
Change in equity
— Improvement in AUD to IDR by 5% 248 94
— Decline in AUD to IDR by 5% (248) (94)
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* Held by Alchemy Securiti es Pty Ltd

There were 27 shareholders with less than a marketable parcel (shareholdings with a market value of less than $500).

Substanti al Shareholders

The substanti al shareholders in the company, as disclosed in substanti al holding noti ces given to the company are:

Top Twenty Shareholders

Shareholder Information as at 15 October 2009

Ordinary Shares Unlisted Options Employee Options
Issued Capital 180,306,570 500,000* 5,625,000

Distribution of Holders

1 1,000 20
1,001 5,000 74
5,001 10,000 78
10,001 100,000 249
100,001 and over 131 1 9

552 1 9

Resource Capital Fund IV LP 18,920,366 10.50
Taurus SM Holdings Pty Limited 18,181,800 10.09
Acorn Capital Limited 18,090,900 10.04

Shareholder Holding % of Issued Capital

1 Resource Capital Fund IV LP 19,067,203 10.57%

2 Taurus SM Holdings Pty Limited 18,181,800 10.08%

3 Acorn Capital Limited 18,090,900 10.03%

4 Lujeta Pty Ltd 9,507,092 5.27%

5 Exsolutions Pty Ltd 7,505,277 4.16%

6 Straits Mineral Investments Pty Ltd 6,060,600 3.36%

7 Dr Christopher Ben Farmer 5,965,695 3.31%

8 Tennant Metals Pty Ltd 5,437,561 3.02%

9 Mr Ian David Neuss 5,226,202 2.90%

10 Mr S. de Belle & Ms J. Sheehan 4,570,315 2.53%

11 Lynchwood Nominees Ltd 4,105,000 2.28%

12 Fortis Clearing Nominees Pty Ltd 3,218,041 1.78%

13 Lomacott Pty Ltd 3,000,000 1.66%

14 Treecity Pty Ltd 2,530,303 1.40%

15 UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 2,492,908 1.38%

16 Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Ltd 2,340,328 1.30%

17 Darley Pty Ltd 2,300,000 1.28%

18 ANZ Nominees Ltd 2,098,960 1.16%

19 UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 1,945,766 1.08%

20 National Nominees Ltd 1,700,000 0.94%

Total 125,343,951 69.52%

Shareholder Holding % of Issued Capital
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Mining Tenements

Tenement

Tenement Type Date Issued Area (ha) Owner
FND Interest

%KP decision No. Validity

Wetar Copper Project

543 – 08a Tahun 2009 Exploration Ext. II 9 Jan 09 1.372 1 year BKP 94.0%

543 – 09b Tahun 2009 Exploration Ext. II 9 Jan 09 1.361 1 year BKP 94.0%

545 – 957 Tahun 2006 Exploration 16 Oct 06* 1.425 3 years BBW 94.0%

545 – 04a Tahun 2009 Exploration Ext. I 9 Jan 09 515 1 year BBW 94.0%

Wetar : South Coast Exploration

543 955 Tahun 2006 Exploration 16 Oct 06* 2636 3 years BKP 94.0%

543 – 09c Tahun 2009 Exploration 9 Jan 09 1.418 1 year BKP 94.0%

543 – 05a Tahun 2009 Exploration 9 Jan 09 1.021 1 year BBW 94.0%

543 – 06a Tahun 2009 Exploration 9 Jan 09 1.106 1 year BBW 94.0%

543 – 07a Tahun 2009 Exploration 9 Jan 09 1.148 1 year BBW 94.0%

Ojolali Gold Silver Project

B.189/04 WK/HK/2007 Exploration 19 Dec 07 856 3 years BWKM 71.8%

B.187/04 WK/HK/2007 Exploration 19 Dec 07 1,626 3 years BWKM 71.8%

B.113/DPE WK/HK/2009 Exploration Ext. II 7 Aug 09 1,715 1 year BWKM 71.8%

B.113a/DPE WK/HK/2009 Exploration Ext. II 7 Aug 09 1,715 1 year BWKM 71.8%

Banda Minerals Pty Ltd and Way Kanan Resources Pty Ltd are subsidiaries of Finders Resources Limited, and are parties to
certain cooperation agreements (“Cooperation Agreements”) with Indonesian companies, PT Batutua Kharisma Permai
(“BKP”) PT Batutua Barit Wetar (“BBW”), and PT Batutua Way Kanan Minerals (“BWKM”), that hold exclusive mining
authorizations (kuasa pertambangan or “KP” or “KPs”).

* Extension applied for.
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Corporate Directory

Directors Russell John Fountain
Christopher Ben Farmer
Michael Henry Stirzaker
Robert Peter Thomson
Stephen Ross de Belle
Stephen John Lonergan
Thomas Quinn Roussel

Non Executive Chairman
Managing Director
Finance Director
Executive Director, Development
Independent Non Executive Director
Independent Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director

Secretary Ian Morgan

Offices Registered Office and Principal Place of
Business

Indonesian Office

Suite 51, Level 3
330 Wattle Street
Ultimo NSW 2007

Level 9, Room 931
Patra Office Tower
Jl Jend. Gatot Subroto 32 34
Jakarta, Indonesia

Telephone + (612) 9211 8299
Facsimile + (612) 9212 0200
Email info@findersresources.com
Website www.findersresources.com

Stock Exchange Listings ASX: FND
AIM: FND

Nominated Adviser (AIM Market
of the London Stock Exchange)

RFC Corporate Finance Limited
Level 14, 19 31 Pitt Street
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

Level 8, QV1 Building
250 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000 Australia

Brokers Australia
Southern Cross Equities Limited
Level 32, Aurora Place
88 Phillip Street
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

United Kingdom
JM Finn Capital Markets Limited
(Trading as FinnCap)
4 Coleman Street
London EC2R 5TA United Kingdom

Share Registry Australia
Computershare Investor Services Pty
Limited
60 Carrington Street
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia
Telephone + (612) 8234 5400

United Kingdom
Computershare Investor Services Plc
The Pavilions
Bridgewater Road
Bristol BS99 7NH United Kingdom
Telephone + 44 (0) 870 703 6381

Australian Business Number 82 108 547 413
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